
 

Democracy Service 
Swyddfa’r Cyngor 

CAERNARFON 
Gwynedd 
LL55 1SH 

 

 

 

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 
 

  
 

Meeting 
 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 
 
 

 

 
Date and Time 

 
1.00 pm, TUESDAY, 19TH OCTOBER, 2021 

 

 
 

 
Location 

 
Zoom 

 
*For public access please contact on the information below* 

 
 

 

 

Contact Point 

Natalie Lloyd Jones 

01286 679870 

NatalieLloydJones@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

(DISTRIBUTED 11/10/21) 

Complete Agenda

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/


 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP (15) 
 
 

Plaid Cymru (8) 
 

Councillors 
 

Elwyn Edwards Alan Jones Evans 
Aled Ll. Evans Judith Mary Humphreys 

Elin Walker Jones Olaf Cai Larsen 
Elfed Williams Beca Brown 

 
 

Independent (5) 
 

Councillors 
 

Elwyn Jones Eric M. Jones 
Kevin Morris Jones John Pughe Roberts 

Eirwyn Williams  
 
 

Llais Gwynedd (1) 
 

Councillor 
 

Alwyn Gruffydd 
 
 

Gwynedd United Independents (1) 
 

Councillor 
Vacant Seat - Gwynedd United Independents 

 
 

Aelodau Ex-officio / Ex-officio Members 
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council 

 
 

Other Invited Member 
 

Councillor Nia Jeffreys, Cabinet Member Corporate Support - The Welsh Language 
 

 



 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 

 
 

2.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declaration of personal interest 

 
 

3.   URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To note any items that are a matter of urgency in the view of the Chair for 
consideration 

 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 13 

 The Chair shall propose that the minutes of the previous meeting of this 
committee held on 22nd June, 2021, be signed as a true record  (attached) 

 

 

5.   WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: HIGHWAYS AND 
MUNICIPAL 
 

14 - 29 

 Present information regarding the Department’s contribution to advancing 
and promoting the Welsh language. 
 

 

6.   WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: ENVIRONMENT 
DEPARTMENT 
 

30 - 37 

 To present information about the Department's contribution to the Language 
Policy. 

 

 

7.   WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: FINANCE 
 

38 - 42 

 To present information about the Department’s contribution to the language 
policy. 

 

 

8.   STEPPING FORWARD: THE WELSH LANGUAGE 
COMMISSIONER'S ASSURANCE REPORT 
 

43 - 98 

 Information item only. 

 
 

9.   WELSH PLACENAMES REPORT 
 

99 - 104 

 To submit a report by the Project Officer giving an update on the work of the 
new project to Members.  
 

 

 
 
 
 



 

 



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

1 
 

 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE  

22 June 2021 

10.00 am 

 

 

PRESENT 

 

COUNCILLORS: Beca Brown, Elwyn Edwards, Aled Evans, Alwyn Gruffydd, Judith 

Humphreys, Elwyn Jones, Eric M Jones, Kevin M Jones, Elin Walker Jones, Cai Larsen, John 

Pughe Roberts and Elfed Williams. 

 

OFFICERS:  Vera Jones (Democracy and Language Service Manager), Gwenllïan Mair 

Williams (Language Advisor), Siôn Elwyn Hughes (Welsh Language Learning and 

Development Officer), Lowri Evans, Sioned Mai Jones and Natalie Lloyd Jones (Democracy 

Services Officers). 

 

OTHERS INVITED: Councillor Nia Jeffreys (Cabinet Member for Corporate Support) and 

Councillor Cemlyn Williams (Cabinet Member for Education) 

 

Present for item 7:   

Rhion Glyn (Senior Business Manager, Adults, Health and Well-being Department) 

 

Present for item 8: 

Marian Hughes (Head of Children and Supporting Families Department) 

 

Present for item 11: 

Debbie Jones (Education Corporate Services Manager), Garem Jackson (Head of Education 

Department), Rhian Parry Jones (Gwynedd Secondary Education Officer), Sian Eirug 

(Language Strategy Co-ordinator – Secondary) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

2 
 

 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIR 

 

RESOLVED 

 

To elect Councillor Alwyn Gruffydd as Chair for the year 2021/22.  

 

  

2.     ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

RESOLVED 

To elect Councillor Judith Humphreys as Vice-chair for the year 2021/22.  

 

3.     APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillor Alan Evans, Councillor Eirwyn Williams, and 

Aled Davies (Head of Adults, Health and Well-being Department). 

 

4.    DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST  

 

No declarations of personal interest were received. 

 

5.    URGENT ITEMS 

 

No urgent items were received.  

 

6.     MINUTES  

 

The Chair signed the minutes of the previous committee meeting held on 29 April 2021 

as a true record. 

 

7. WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: ADULTS, HEALTH AND WELL-BEING 

DEPARTMENT 

 

The report by the Senior Business Manager – Adults, Health and Well-being was 

presented, which highlighted the steps taken within the department to promote the Welsh 

language.   

 

Attention was drawn to the department's priorities as follows: 

- Integrate services by collaborating with partners such as Betsi Cadwaladr University 

Health Board. It was added that this would change the way of working, ensuring 

better use of resources. 

- It was noted that Council staff complied with the Council's Language Policy, however, 

there were challenges with partners who had a different language policy to that of the 

Council. 

- Barriers and challenges were highlighted, with examples such as language use when 

recording users' notes. 

- Although staff language skills in the Council reached the required designation, there 

was no information regarding partners' staff language skills. 

Page 6



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

3 
 

- More work was needed when commissioning services since the department relied on 

the independent/private sector that was not accountable to the Council's language 

standards and expectations. 

- The challenges were discussed including staff recruitment and retention, and the 

solutions such as promoting career paths within the field. 

 

Members were invited to ask questions and offer observations. During the discussion, 

the following observations were noted:- 

- Members thanked the officer for the report and enquired whether the figure of 79% 

for staff who reached the language designation had an impact on Gwynedd residents 

and their choice to receive services through the medium of Welsh. 

- They asked to what degree did the Health Board's language policy prevent Gwynedd 

Council from offering a bilingual provision, and subsequent to this they asked 

whether there was any mapping of the language skills of the Health Board's staff? 

- A member expressed pride that users' experience was given precedence within the 

service. 

- Members enquired about the views of Social Services inspectors regarding the use 

of the Welsh language within the department. 

 

 

In response, the following was noted: 

- The challenge of securing staff who have Welsh language skills was greater in some 

areas, however, overall, the figure for staff who have no Welsh language skills was 

very low. 

- Ensuring the use of Welsh was proving most difficult within the office and when 

recording notes on the system, as these were shared with external colleagues. 

- Discussions were taking place between the Language Advisor and the Health Board 

in order to map staff language skills. 

- One recent challenge had been securing on-line meetings in Welsh, as other bodies 

did not use the same software. 
- A next step for the department would be to identify the workforce's language skills 

and who required training. The officer explained that this would provide an 

opportunity to work jointly with providers who needed assistance in this regard. 

- The department was required to report annually on language skills, and the Health 

Board also collected data around language skills and updated them regularly. 

However, as the methods were not comparative it was not possible to compare data 

sets. 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

To accept the report and to note the observations received. 

 

 

8. WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: CHILDREN AND SUPPORTING FAMILIES 

 

The report by the Head of Children and Supporting Families Department was presented, 

and she highlighted the steps taken within the department to promote the Welsh 

language.   

Page 7



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

4 
 

 

She added that the service included elements of Social Services, the Supporting 

Families Team, Early and Nursery Years, and the Youth and Justice services. She 

explained that all parts of the service had extensive responsibilities. 

 

Attention was drawn to the department's priorities as follows: 

- Advance and promote and early years services by working together with Hunaniaith. 

- Encourage employees to use and improve their language skills, and provide 

resources and support to childminders. 

- Support the ‘Croesi'r Bont’ scheme for immersing nursery aged children in the 

language – she noted that 11 cylchoedd (pre-school settings) in the County had been 

supported by the scheme to date. 

- Provide support to parents – on-line 'clwb cwtsh' sessions, 35 individuals. 

- Provide support to children and vulnerable young people to ensure that the language 

needs of all children have been taken into account. 

- She explained that although language was a factor in considering care and support 

packages, some children came into care because of severe risks or needs, where an 

out-of-county placement was essential.  She added that although it was not possible 

to ensure the language choice in this case, the Social Workers addressed the 

language requirements by keeping contact over the phone and providing resources 

in their placement. 

- She shared with the committee that 91% of the department's workforce reached the 

language designation, and she provided an example of the Youth Justice Service 

Manager who had strived to learn the language and was now fluent. 

- They ensured that third party contracts contained language skills, with the exception 

of some individual contracts relating to out-of-county placements. 

- She expressed that there were challenges with recruiting Social Workers, which led 

to recruiting non-Welsh speaking social workers to ensure service provision and to 

ensure that statutory safeguarding duties are met. 

- The translation unit was thanked for all their support in ensuring that virtual meetings 

had continued in Welsh. 

 

Members were invited to ask questions and offer observations. During the discussion, 

the following observations were noted:- 

- A member enquired what were the department's plans for coping with the challenges 

such as recruiting Welsh speaking staff and offering a proactive language choice? 

- They asked whether there was anything the department could do jointly with the 

secondary education sector to address the recruitment problem? 

- How common was the situation of Welsh speaking children being placed with non-

Welsh speaking foster parents? 

- A member asked what were the criteria for a cylch meithrin to be a part of the 

Croesi'r Bont scheme, since only 11 cylchoedd had been noted. 

- The members thanked the department for all their hard work, and expressed that 

their passion towards safeguarding the children of Gwynedd and the Welsh language 

was inspiring. They also thanked the Head of Department in particular for describing 

the pressure and stress that staff have faced, and for explaining the situation 

regarding the shortage of social workers. 

- They enquired whether there were fewer Welsh-speaking people fostering or 

adopting, and what were the obstacles. 

Page 8



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

5 
 

- Concern was expressed regarding Welsh youths in prison not being able to speak 

Welsh. A member proposed writing a letter to the Children and Young People 

Commissioner from the language committee to try to ensure fairness in the situation. 

In response, the following was noted: 

- The staffing situation existed partly as staff had been moving jobs internally, because 

the last year had been exceptional in terms of job pressure. She added that these 

staff members moved to less high-pressure roles. She explained that this left gaps, 

which was concerning since the recruitment of bilingual staff was proving 

challenging. 

- In response to a question regarding promoting a Social Work career, it was explained 

that young people tended to complete their degree and then gained experience in the 

field, and then followed a M.A. Social Work course. She supported looking into 

promoting Social Work as a career. 

- There were no challenges in terms of recruiting workers fresh from the courses; the 

challenge lay in recruiting experienced staff. 

- Many of the carers/prospective foster parents were bilingual, however, she added 

that it was not always possible to ensure this. 

- There was a commitment with workers locally to conduct meetings in Welsh, with the 

use of translation for non-Welsh speakers. 

- In response to a question about the profile of prospective foster carers/adopters, she 

stated that this was down to personal choice, but a promotion campaign did take 

place regularly. 

 

RESOLVED: 

To accept the report and to note the observations received. 

 

 

9. CONSULTATION: NATIONAL POLICY ON WELSH LINGUISTIC INFRASTRUCTURE 

The Language Advisor presented the Welsh Government's consultation document, 

noting that the Council's language officers were preparing a response. She added that 

this provided the Committee members with an opportunity to offer comments to feed into 

the officers' response. 

Members were invited to ask questions and offer observations. During the discussion, 

the following observations were noted:- 

- A member asked whether there would be contact with the Language Planning Unit in 

Bangor University, in order to receive observations from world-renown experts. 

- The priority was language use if we are to reach a million Welsh speakers, 

infrastructure was an academic subject 

- A member enquired whether there was reference to the 'Ap Geiriaduron' app within 

the document. 

 

In response:-  

Page 9



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

6 
 

- The officer noted that since this was a Welsh Government document, it was not the 

Council's place to seek observations from the University. 

- She explained that the document referred to a number of resources including the Ap 

Geiriaduron, and explained that one of the proposals was the creation of a single 

interface to be able to access all the resources.  

 

RESOLVED: 

 

To accept the report and to note the observations received. 

 

 

 

10. THE WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS: ANNUAL REPORT  

 

 

The Language Advisor presented the annual report. She explained that the report 

detailed the Council's compliance with the Commissioner's language standards, and that 

comments were required on this draft document. 

 

She proceeded to explain what exactly must be included in the document, such as: 

- Complaints 

- The number of staff who possess Welsh language skills 

- The number of staff who have attended specific training courses in Welsh 

- The number of posts advertised which included an essential Welsh language 

designation 

 

She explained that this could be used as an opportunity to highlight the Council's good 

practices and how it had overcome the challenges that emerged during the past year, for 

example, successes in the translation field which led the way in terms of simultaneous 

translation at virtual committee meetings. 

 

The Welsh Language Learning and Development Officer reiterated this, noting that 

Welsh language lessons were as busy as ever and had continued on-line. He referred 

once again to the example of the Youth Justice Service Manager who had carried on 

learning Welsh, and as a consequence had developed his skills substantially. 

 

Members were invited to ask questions and offer observations. During the discussion, the 

following observations were noted:- 

- Congratulations were expressed to the translation team for adapting to providing 

simultaneous translation virtually. 

- A member commented that residents should be encouraged to communicate in 

Welsh with the Council, by changing the Council's image to be less official. They 

added that people used the Welsh language when they contacted councillors, but not 

with the officers. 

- A member queried whether only four complaints had been received, and asked for an 

explanation why it was so low. 

 

Page 10



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

7 
 

 

In response: 

- It was explained that the Public Services Board was looking at language use within 

receptions and face-to-face services, however, the focus was on the internal 

operation of staff arrangements and not on whether the public used the Welsh 

language. 

- It was noted that the Language Commissioner was exploring how greater use of the 

language amongst the public could be encouraged. 

- In response, it was noted that only complaints against the Council's standards or 

policies were reported to the language committee, which was why only four 

complaints were noted. 

 

RESOLVED: 

To accept the report and to note the observations received. 

 

 

11. THE WELSH LANGUAGE IN EDUCATION – STRATEGIC PLAN AND THE 

IMMERSION SYSTEM 

 

i) Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2022-2032  
 

 

The report by the Gwynedd Secondary Education Officer was presented – she shared 

information with the Committee about the draft plan as part of the informal consultation. 

 

She explained that this was a new chapter in terms of planning the Welsh language in 

education, and that the updated strategic plan would be operational from September 

2022 onwards. She added that the most reliable model for creating Welsh speakers was 

immersion in the Welsh language through the education system, which was the aim of 

the Government's strategy; Cymraeg 2050: A Million Welsh Speakers. 

 

The vision of the Cabinet Member for Education together with the vision of the Head of 

Education Department were shared. The seven outcomes of the new Welsh in Education 

Strategic Plan for the next ten years were discussed, along with the timetable for the 

consultation. 

 

Members were invited to ask questions and offer observations. During the discussion, the 

following observations were noted:- 

- A member commented on the need to extend the boundaries of the Welsh language 

beyond the classroom so that children continued to use it, and they asked how the 

Education Department could do this. 

- It was noted that only two subjects through the medium of Welsh was very low, and 

were there plans to increase this?  

- A member expressed that designated Welsh-medium schools were needed. 

Page 11



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

8 
 

- The members gave thanks for the presentation. It was recognised that Gwynedd led 

the way in Welsh-medium education provision, however, concern was expressed that 

a high proportion of children who followed their education through Welsh decreased 

in KS4. 

- A member enquired what the Council could do in a situation where the governing 

body did not share the same values in respect of education provision? 

 

In response, the following was noted: 

- The document would become statutory in September 2022. 

- The need to secure more teachers who were confident to teach through the medium 

of Welsh to stem the number of pupils who chose to study subjects through the 

medium of English in KS4 and beyond. 

- The two subjects were only the minimum requirement in schools that currently 

offered no subjects at all. 

- A need to raise awareness of the value of bilingualism amongst non-Welsh speaking 

parents, and that Welsh was not learned at the expense of English. 

- If schools were identified as causing concern in respect of the Welsh-medium 

provision, there were actions in place to educate the Governors about their provision. 

- It was added that this aspect was discussed regularly in meetings and was part of 

our Governors' training. 

- Research was undertaken to ensure that we knew in advance in what language the 

course would be taught if the pupil was moving from KS4 to a further education 

college. 

 

 

 
ii) Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2022-2032: A new vision for the 

Immersion Education System towards 2032 and beyond  
 
 

The Head of Education Department provided a foreword, noting that he welcomed the 
opportunity to bring the item before the Language Committee as it was such an important 
item. 
 
The report by the Education Corporate Services Manager was presented, who referred to 
the vision of the Cabinet Member for Education. She also presented the objectives for 
realising the vision. 
 
She proceeded to explain to the committee exactly what the new provision of immersion 
education would involve, and also how they intended to fund it, namely through the EIG 
grant, the Education Department and also funding from the schools themselves. 
 

 

Members were invited to ask questions and offer observations. During the discussion, the 

following observations were noted:- 

- Members welcomed the news that Bangor was receiving an immersion education 
unit, and were encouraged to see a primary and secondary unit being provided there. 

- A member enquired how often the children would be able to access the Language 
Centres. 

Page 12



  LANGUAGE COMMITTEE, 22/06/2021 

9 
 

- They sought clarity around the staffing structure, what the ratio of teachers to 
children would be in the new centres, and what would be the role of the classroom 
assistant. 

- They expressed pride in the Council for its pioneering approach in providing 
substantial investment to enable us to expand the number of sites available, since 
the south Meirionnydd area in particular faced significant challenges with regard to 
the Welsh language. 

- Concerns were expressed regarding the aim for the learners to attend school for one 
day a week as this could lead to establishing English-speaking customs amongst 
peers that could then continue for the rest of the relationship. As a result, the 
member noted that they did not support the vision. 

- What was the situation in terms of monitoring to identify the changes taking place?  
 
 
In response: 

- The officer noted that under the new system, children would be admitted at the start 
of every term for a period of 8-10 weeks. She added that blended learning would  
take place before they reached the site. 

- She explained that there was a need to work through the details since the corporate 
system noted that employment matters were a matter for individual departments. 

- As with any service, the department would review the service continuously in terms 
of quality assurance, and if the evidence indicated that improvements or adjustments 
were required, then measures would be put in place to ensure that. 
 

 

RESOLVED: 

To accept the report and to note the observations received. 

 

 

 

The meeting commenced at 10.00am and concluded at 13.15pm. 

 

CHAIR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



MEETING Language Committee 

DATE 19 October 2021 

TITLE Highways and Municipal Department Report 

PURPOSE Present information regarding the Department’s contribution to 
advancing and promoting the Welsh language 

AUTHOR Steffan Jones, Head of Highways and Municipal 
 
 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  This report has been prepared in response to the Language Committee's request for 
information on how the Highways and Municipal Department advances and promotes the 
Welsh language. 
 
1.2  The Department employs 570 staff with the majority of these being manual workers e.g. 
litter pickers, street cleaners, recycling center workers and road workers. Most of our 
workforce are recruited from our local communities. As a result, Welsh is their first language 
and the medium used to communicate internally and externally with our residents. 
 
1.3  In line with current statistics, over 95% of the Department's staff reach the language 
designation of their post. While this is very encouraging and reflects the Department's 
desire to advance and promote the language amongst our staff, it should be pointed out 
that only 25% of staff have responded to the online survey to date. This is mainly due to the 
number of frontline staff we have without easy access to work PCs and laptops. 
 
1.4  Improving this response rate is going to be challenging. However, we have already 
started working with Sion Elwyn Hughes, the Council's Welsh Language Learning and 
Development Officer, to try and find suitable ways to improve the response. More 
background on this is given in the table of questions below. 
 
1.5  Due to the nature of the Department's work, we may not be able to have as much 
influence on the five main priority areas of the Promoting Welsh Language Scheme in 
Gwynedd as we would like. However, we value and give status to the language and always 
strive to offer consistent and high quality Welsh language services.

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



2. RESPONSE TO THE COMMITTEE'S QUESTIONS 
 

Issues that members would like to discuss: Question 

 
Advancement and promotion 
 
How do we go beyond providing a bilingual service to increase 
the opportunities for people to use Welsh in the community, to 
contribute to the national target of creating a Million speakers, 
and to the Well-being goal of ensuring that the people of 
Gwynedd are “Being able to live in a naturally Welsh speaking 
society”? 
 
The Welsh Language Promotion Scheme in Gwynedd can be 
viewed here:   
 
(https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-
Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Cynllun-iaith/Cynllun-Hybu'r-
Gymraeg-yng-Ngwynedd-2018-2023.pdf)  
 
It sets out priorities for promoting the Welsh language in five 
areas: 
 
1. The language of the family, 
2. Language of learning, 
3. Working language and service, 
4. The language of the community 
5. Research and Technology  

 
1. Can you highlight any projects within your department that contribute to one of the 
Council's language strategy priorities, namely the Promoting the Welsh Language 
Scheme in Gwynedd? 
 

 Unlike some other Council departments, the Highways and Municipal 
Department probably does not have specific projects that provide opportunities 
to increase the use of the Welsh language and increase the number of speakers 
in our communities. However, the Department raises the awareness of 
Gwynedd's residents of its services in a number of ways. As well as being clear 
and concise, we ensure that all our information and publicity material is 
bilingual with Welsh always given priority over English. Some examples of these 
are the information leaflets we produce to raise awareness of our recycling 
service. Examples of these are shown in Appendix 1. 

 

 To reinforce our messages and raise our residents' awareness of our services, 
we also organise public sessions and presentations. One example of this is 
where our recycling officers visit schools and colleges as well as other local 
organisations and institutions to explain the benefits of recycling and how we 
collect and deal with their waste. Most of these sessions are conducted through 
the medium of Welsh unless officers are aware in advance that the audience will 
be in English, or partly English, where alternative arrangements will be made. 
However, arranging these do not come without their problems as set out in 3 
below. 

 

 In relation to the language within the work place, all our internal instructions, 
health and safety documents etc are produced bilingually; again, with Welsh 
taking precedence over English.  

 
 

P
age 15

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Cynllun-iaith/Cynllun-Hybu'r-Gymraeg-yng-Ngwynedd-2018-2023.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Cynllun-iaith/Cynllun-Hybu'r-Gymraeg-yng-Ngwynedd-2018-2023.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Cynllun-iaith/Cynllun-Hybu'r-Gymraeg-yng-Ngwynedd-2018-2023.pdf


Outsourcing and letting third party agreements 
 
How do we ensure that the standard of bilingual service is 
maintained when outsourcing and contracting?  
 

2. If the department is outsourcing work, can you refer to any good practice, either in 
imposing conditions or in monitoring to ensure compliance with linguistic conditions? 
 

 We understand the requirements placed upon us under Council policies and 
relevant legislation to ensure that our services meet the linguistic needs of the 
local population. Therefore, before going out to tender for any work or service, 
we discover if the supplier can offer its services bilingually by asking relevant 
questions in the Pre-qualifying Questionnaire (PQQ). If they are unable to 
provide satisfactory answers to the questions, then they will not be invited to 
tender for the work. Example of the questions in the PQQ are shown in 
Appendix 2. 

 

 If a supplier is invited to tender for work, then there is a clause in our tender 
documents to raise contractors' awareness of the requirements and our 
expectations of them. A copy of the clause can be found in Appendix 3. 

 

 We also ask successful suppliers to sign an agreement that commits them to our 
language requirements. See Appendix 4 for an example of the agreement.   

 

 
Operating bilingually 
 
How do we succeed in implementing the requirements of the 
Language Policy and Standards? 

 
3. Are there any barriers to your ability as a department to offer a full service in 
Welsh? 
 

 Many of our manual worker roles require elementary language levels, namely 
Foundation, Intermediate or Entry. As a result, recruiting staff to these roles is 
not too problematic. The exception is Meirionnydd where recruiting workers to 
roles within the waste collection service, although at an elementary level, can be 
difficult. 

 

 The steps taken in relation to tendering etc. are set out in 2 above. However, 
there are some tenders that cannot be provided bilingually for the following 
reasons:  
 

P
age 16



o Many of the Department's tenders and contracts are very technical. As a 
result, the documentation is considered unsuitable for translation. 
However, the Department does try to publish the advertisement in 
Welsh if possible. 

o Due to the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) rules, we can 
only advertise in English (large schemes or services over a certain price 
threshold). 

o Time - sometimes there is not enough time to put out tenders within the 
designated timescale which means there is no time to translate the 
documentation. 

o Cost - if the internal translation team is too busy to translate the work, 
then going out to an external translation service can be quite expensive 
and prohibitive.  

 

 It is worth noting that some national and regional meetings organised by our 
partners are conducted through the medium of English as the officers only 
speak English. This in itself does not prevent the issues from being discussed 
and reaching a conclusion. However, there are times when it is considered that 
the organisers could have made an effort knowing that they are discussing 
issues with Gwynedd staff. However, it must be said that most of our partners 
do make an effort to hold meetings through the medium of Welsh, regardless 
of the number of participants who speak Welsh. 
 

 The fact that we are sometimes unable to attract a Welsh audience to our 
recycling sessions is disappointing. As explained in 1 above, we offer sessions 
and presentations to raise awareness of our recycling arrangements. We were 
keen to continue this service during the Covid period and arranged virtual 
presentations to facilitate it. Such sessions were arranged for new students at 
Bangor University - one in Welsh and one in English,. However, while many 
attended the English session, no student attended the Welsh session. It is not 
known why this happened in a college with a healthy intake of Welsh speakers. 
However, it has made us wary of organising such sessions in the future.  

P
age 17



 Finding the percentage of our staff who reach the language designations of 
their post has been challenging. To date, only 25% of Highways and Municipal 
staff have responded to the online assessment. However, when it is considered 
that the Department employs 510 manual workers out of a total of 570 staff, 
most with limited access to the Council's intranet, it is understandable why the 
response rate is so low. To this end, the Department has worked closely with 
Sion Elwyn Hughes to find ways to encourage and facilitate employees who 
have not yet responded to the assessment. See number 4 below for an 
explanation of how the Department intends to overcome this. 

 
Developing new opportunities  
 

 
4. Do you have ideas for new ways we could be promoting the Welsh language within 
the county's communities - either in your own services or by working with others? 
 

 Promoting the Welsh language within the Department (this may apply to other 
departments / services with a high number of frontline workers). 

 
It is explained in 4 above that finding the percentage of the Department's staff 
who reach the language designations of their post has been challenging. To try 
and overcome this, the Department has worked closely with Sion Elwyn Hughes 
to seek ways to encourage and facilitate the workforce to respond to the 
assessment. One possible solution, and one that will be trialled shortly, is to 
reproduce the existing online assessment in a formal hard copy questionnaire 
format (not a photocopy) and hand deliver it to relevant employees. To facilitate 
the process, it was also decided that it would be better to simplify the 
questionnaire and make it more relevant to our manual workers (although not 
modified so much that it is not comparable to the current online assessment) . 
The questionnaire has already been printed by the Council's print room and the 
employees who require a copy in each service have been identified. The 
intention now is for the team leaders to distribute the questionnaire to their 
teams along with a covering letter from the Head of Department and Sion 
Elwyn.  

P
age 18



 

We understand that this is the first time that the language assessment has been 
distributed in hard copy format on this scale. It is hoped that this approach will 
be successful and enable us to find out how many of our staff actually meet the 
language requirements of their posts. This will then allow us to review our 
current approach to promoting the language within the Department if 
necessary.  

P
age 19



ATODIAD 1   - Taflenni Gwybodaeth y Gwasanaeth Ailgylchu 
APPENDIX 1  - Recycling Service Information Leaflets 
 
 
Gwasanaeth Bocs Glas / Blue Box Service 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



Gwasanaeth Casglu Gwastraff Bwyd / Food Waste Collection Service 

 
 

Page 21



Taflen Trefniadau Cymunedol / Community Arrangements Leaflet 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 22



ATODIAD 2  - Cwestiwn Holiadur Cyn-gymhwyso 
APPENDIX 2 - Pre-qualification Questionnaire  
 
 

Nodyn 

Nodyn i [CC.GEN.08] 

Mae gan y prynwr hawl i wrthod y tendr os na 
fyddwch yn gallu dangos eich bod yn gallu 
cydymffurfio â’r angen i ddarparu gwasanaethau 
yn ddwyieithog (y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg) pan fo 
hynny yn ofyn perthnasol i’r tendr. 
 
Os byddwch yn llwyddiannus, gall y prynwr ei 
gwneud yn ofynnol i chi roi tystiolaeth i gefnogi 
eich ateb. 

Cwestiwn Proffil 

[CCGen008a01v02] 

Cadarnhewch eich bod yn gallu, neu y byddwch 
yn gallu os yn llwyddiannus, cynnig y 
gwasanaeth yn ddwyieithog yn unol a gofynion 
Mesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011 a Safonau’r 
Gymraeg sydd wedi eu gosod ar Gyngor 
Gwynedd. 

Note 

Note for [CC.GEN.08] 

The buyer may only select you to tender if you 
can confirm that you will be able to comply with 
the requirement to deliver services bilingually 
(in Welsh and English) where that is an 
identified need of the tender 
 
If you are successful the buyer may require you 
to provide evidence to support your answer. 

Profile Question 

[CCGen008a01v02] 

Please confirm that you can currently meet, or 
will meet if you are successful, the requirement 
to provide services bilingually in accordance 
with the requirements of the Welsh Language 
Act (Wales) 2011 and the consequent Language 
Standards set on the Council. 

 
 
 
 

Page 23



ATODIAD 3   - Cymal yn Nogfennau Tendro’r Adran 
APPENDIX 3 - Clause in the Department’s Tender Documents 
 
 

POLISI IAITH CYMRAEG CYNGOR GWYNEDD 2016 
 

Cyhoeddir y Polisi hwn yn unol â blaenoriaethau Cyngor Gwynedd a'r gofynion a osodir ar y 
Cyngor o dan Safonau Iaith Cymru, Adran 4 Mesur Iaith Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011. 
 
Pwrpas y Polisi yw nodi sut y bydd y Cyngor yn cynllunio ac yn darparu i sicrhau bod ei holl 
wasanaethau yn diwallu angen y boblogaeth leol o safbwynt ieithyddol. Bydd hefyd yn fodd 
i sicrhau cydymffurfiad â Safonau Iaith Cymru. 
 
Bydd y Cyngor yn gweithredu yn unol â'r egwyddor sylfaenol a nodir ym Mesur Cymraeg 
(Cymru) 2011, sef trin y Gymraeg a'r iaith Saesneg yn gyfartal, gan roi statws a dilysrwydd 
cyfartal i'r ddwy iaith a pheidio â thrin yr iaith Gymraeg yn llai ffafriol na'r iaith Saesneg. 
 
Mae'r Safonau Iaith Gymraeg, nid yn unig yn berthnasol i wasanaethau a ddarperir yn 
uniongyrchol gan y Cyngor, ond mae hefyd yn berthnasol i wasanaethau a ddarperir ar ran y 
Cyngor gan bartïon eraill. Mewn perthynas â'r gwasanaethau hynny a ddarperir ar ran y 
Cyngor gan bartïon eraill, bydd y Cyngor yn sicrhau: 
 

• bydd unrhyw fanylebau, cytundebau, contractau neu drefniadau a wneir gyda 
thrydydd partïon sy'n ymwneud â darparu gwasanaethau i'r cyhoedd yn cydymffurfio â 
gofynion Polisi Iaith Cymru a Safonau Iaith Gymraeg; 
 
• trwy drefniadau contractio mae'r asiant neu'r contractwr yn gallu ac yn gweithredu 
unrhyw elfennau cymwys o Bolisi a Safonau Cymraeg y Cyngor wrth ddarparu 
gwasanaethau i'r cyhoedd ar ei ran neu o dan ei oruchwyliaeth; 
 
• bydd gofynion o ran defnyddio’r Gymraeg yn cael eu nodi mewn dogfennau a 
chontractau tendro; 
 
• sefydlir gweithdrefnau priodol ar gyfer monitro cydymffurfiad â Pholisi a Safonau 
Cymraeg. 

 
GWYNEDD COUNCIL WELSH LANGUAGE POLICY 2016 
 
This Policy is published in accordance with Gwynedd Council priorities and the requirements 
set upon the Council under the Welsh Language Standards, Section 4 Welsh Language 
Measure (Wales) 2011.  
 
The purpose of the Policy is to note how the Council will plan and provide to ensure that all 
of its services meet the need of the local population from a linguistic perspective. It will also 
serve as a means to ensure compliance with the Welsh Language Standards.  
 
 
 

Page 24



The Council will operate according to the basic principle set out in the Welsh Language 
Measure (Wales) 2011, of treating the Welsh and English language as equal, giving both 
languages equal status and validity and not treating the Welsh language less favourably than 
the English language.  
The Welsh Language Standards is not only relevant to services delivered directly by the 
Council but is also pertinent to services delivered on behalf of the Council by other parties. 
In relation to those services delivered on behalf of the Council by other parties the Council 
will ensure that: 
  

• any specifications, agreements, contracts or arrangements made with third parties 
which relate to the provision of services to the public comply with the requirements of 
the Welsh Language Policy and Welsh Language Standards; 

 
• through contracting arrangements the agent or contractor is able to and does 
implement any applicable elements of the Council’s Welsh Language Policy and 
Standards when providing services to the public on its behalf or under its supervision 

 
• requirements as to the use of Welsh will be specified in tendering documents and 
contracts; 

 
• appropriate procedures for monitoring compliance with the Welsh Language Policy 
and Standards will be established. 

Page 25



ATODIAD 4   - Cytundeb Gofynion Ieithyddol 
APPENDIX 4  - Linguistic Requirements Agreement 
 

 

Page 26



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 28



 
 
 
 

Page 29



DATE 

 
LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 

MEETING 

 
19 OCTOBER 2021 

TITLE 

 
Report of the Environment Department 

PURPOSE 

 

To present information about the Department's contribution to the 

Language Policy 

AUTHOR Dafydd Wyn Williams, Head of Environment Department 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1. This report has been prepared to present information to the Welsh Language 

Committee on the Environment Department's contribution to the Welsh Language 

Policy. 

1.2      The Council's Language Policy is embedded in all the Department's work and in this 

report, we will highlight the opportunities that are available to improve provision for our 

residents, and acknowledge the challenges we face in the field. 

1.3        After  recent work to identify the language designations of all jobs in the Department, 

we can report that 79% of the Department's staff meet the language requirements.  It 

should be noted that the situation differs when we look at specific services. 

1.4       At first glance, the percentage seems low in comparison with the Council as a whole 

(91%).   The fact that individuals are not able to meet the post's language requirements 

does not mean that they are unable to speak Welsh and offer a service through the 

medium of Welsh to the customer. The training opportunities available are extensive 

and there are positive and continuous examples of individuals in the Department 

looking to develop and improve their language skills. 

 The New Test, Trace and Track Service [TTP] 

1.5 The Test, Trace and Protect service (TTP) was established in May 2020 and came into 

operation on 1 June 2020.  The service at its peak has employed over 100 employees - 

7 seconded from other services within the Council and 5 other staff working as 'bank' 

staff. There is a significant turnover of staff in the Service and therefore a large number 

[over 100 by now] newly employed staff.  

The principal aim of the Test, Trace and Protect service in Gwynedd is to:  

 Identify people who have been infected or who have been in contact with a 

positive case of Covid-19 and support them to isolate during the infectious period, 

or until the symptoms or the incubation period have elapsed; and  

 Support people with symptoms to get access to a Covid-19 test.    

 

1.6       The service has contacted thousands of people across the county, directly and 

through the implementation of mutual support with other local authorities across the 

north, to offer invaluable support and advice.  

 

 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



1.7      One of the barriers faced by this service was in recruitment. As the service is 

coordinated at regional and national levels, the Council did not have full control over 

the recruitment process. The service was led (hosted) by another authority, which was 

responsible for the recruitment drive. Due to a lack of understanding of the specific 

needs of the north-west in terms of having Welsh-medium workers, the service in 

Gwynedd was left with a shortage of Welsh-speaking candidates who could be 

appointed to the vacant posts.  This situation has left the service vulnerable in terms of 

having enough numbers of staff to respond (in any language) to surges, and, to 

respond to the needs of Gwynedd residents in their own language.  

1.8        Nevertheless, 90% of the staff who have been appointed are either first or second 

language Welsh speakers or Welsh learners.  Learners are regularly paired with fluent 

Welsh speakers for role play, and to improve their skills. We also have a Welsh 

speakers’ group where those who are learning the language can speak in a safe 

environment with those who are fluent.  

1.9         The service is responsible for its own training, and has conducted the training bilingually.  

The Test, Trace and Protect Service in Gwynedd Council has a dedicated training team 

that designs and delivers all aspects of training required, including induction and initial 

role training up to the implementation of new/revised Standard Operating Procedures, 

the last of which occurs regularly. The training method is just as flexible and responsive 

as the service we provide; with short weekly training interventions (for each job role), 

until all team, members are able to self-evaluate their performance and request 

training when they feel they need it. 

1.10    The following is a quote from the service about the work that has been done to 

encourage staff and improve their confidence in their Welsh language skills during the 

period:  

“When we get someone who speaks English as a first language but who has some 

Welsh, we pair them with a fluent speaker and role play takes place for daily checks in 

Welsh with them, which works very well. This builds their confidence a lot and they 

realise they know more than they thought. They then start contributing in Welsh during 

'amser paned' and their confidence grows to be able to hold a full conversation with 

a customer in Welsh. We have a small team of staff who mentor these people, it works 

really well.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



2. RESPONSE TO THE COMMITTEE'S QUESTIONS 

MATTER THAT THE MEMBERS WISH TO 

DISCUSS:   

PROMOTING 

1. Can you highlight any projects within your department that contribute to one of the Council's language strategy priorities, namely the Welsh Language 

Promotion Plan for Gwynedd? 

I consider the following to be good examples within the Department of projects and services that have contributed over the past year towards the Welsh 

Language Promotion Plan in Gwynedd: 

 
Building Control Service: This service has responsibility over managing street names and naming and numbering properties under the provision of the 

Public Health Act, 1925.  The Council has a statutory responsibility to act to ensure that any new name or changes to street and property names, and / 

or numbers are allocated with a logical and consistent approach.   

 
The Service has a Policy that is implemented when dealing with applications to change street names and property names and the Policy deals specifically 

with: 

 naming new property 

 re-naming existing property 

 naming a new street or development 

 re-naming an existing street or estate 

 
The legislation behind these arrangements is very dated (1925) and the only consideration under the law is whether there is already a house of the same 

name, or whether the name is appropriate (e.g. decent). There are no enforcement powers for this, and the law does not allow us to refuse an application 

unless it is a duplication or that the name is inappropriate. 

 
Nevertheless, by using the Policy the Service has in place, we can be proactive in highlighting the historic and cultural significance of Welsh names, and 

encourage applicants both formally and orally who wish to change a name from Welsh to English to change their minds. 

 
Statistics from 2019/20 demonstrate that there were 110 applications to change a property's name and approximately 97.8% of the names that were 

subsequently registered through Royal Mail were Welsh names. Note that there were approximately 8 examples where applicants changed their minds 

following discussions with the Service and kept the Welsh name. 

 
It is noted that there has already been contact between the Service and the new Welsh Language Promotion (Protection of Indigenous Names Project) 

Officer and that discussions are in the pipeline. 

 
Joint Planning Policy Service: The main function of this Service is to prepare, monitor, review and amend the Joint Local Development Plan (2011-26) 

including the preparation of Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

P
age 32



The Planning role is limited to seeking to create the best possible circumstances through the Plan's policies to facilitate sustainable developments. 

Considerations of the Welsh language have been central to the process of preparing the Plan and the Plan has a specific planning policy namely Policy 

PS1 that deals with the Welsh language and culture. 

 
Also, Supplementary Planning Guidance (Maintaining and Creating Distinctive and Sustainable Communities), includes detailed guidance on how to 

consider the Welsh language when dealing with applications for new developments. 

 
It is believed that the Plan therefore contributes to promoting and supporting the Welsh language in the Plan area. 

 
Planning Service: One of the main duties of this Service is to deal with planning applications for all kinds of development including housing, employment 

(factories and shops), tourism, agriculture, minerals and waste etc. 

 
In accordance with the statutory requirement, we must determine planning applications in accordance with the Joint Local Development Plan, and as 

noted above, the Plan contains a dedicated Welsh language policy and a Supplementary Planning Guidance that provides detailed guidance on how 

to implement the policy. 

 
By acting on the duty of dealing with planning applications and in accordance with the Plan's requirements it is believed that this again contributes to 

promoting the Welsh language in the area.  This is done by ensuring that applications consider the Welsh language in line with the Policy and Guidance 

that highlight the cultural importance of the language in addition to promoting the language so that it is visible in developments (e.g. signage). 

 

Bilingual road signs – events: We take pride that all the signs on the County's transportation network are bilingual. When we receive road closure 

applications due to necessary works or an event that affects part of the highway, organisers must provide a bilingual signage plan as a condition of the 

permission. 

 

Licensing: The Licensing service has gone about providing applications forms in both languages for a wide range of licences; even if the Home Office 

has not provided official forms through the medium of Welsh. Businesses applying for a licence receive encouragement and support in the form of 

bilingual templates for advertising applications for premises licence in the press. Citizens can submit information in Welsh orally and in writing at Committee 

hearings or court proceedings. 

 
2. If the department awards work externally on contract, can you refer to any good practice, either when imposing conditions or when monitoring to 

ensure compliance with the linguistic conditions? 

I specifically wish to draw the Committee's attention to the following Contracts: 

 

 

P
age 33



Category Management: In every contract set by the Corporate Category Team, we endeavour to ensure that the standard of the Welsh medium service 

is secured and maintained. A copy of the Language Policy is included in the tendering documents, and every applicant is asked to read it to ensure that 

they understand what is required of them in terms of the Welsh language (such as if they need to use signage, they must be bilingual), but also that they 

understand the importance of the Welsh language to Gwynedd Council. 

The language requirements (which reflect the Council's Language Policy) of every contract are determined according to the needs of that contract. For 

example, when a new contract was created for a bathroom hygiene service, it was noted that an English-only catalogue was not enough, and there 

would have to be a Welsh language catalogue. The company arranged for a catalogue to be translated specifically for Gwynedd Council.  

 
Ensuring the standard of the Welsh language in a service is also important – for example, we recently asked for quotations for design and branding work 

for a service – emphasising the expectation for suppliers to create Welsh and English versions, and in order to verify the standard of the Welsh language 

in the work, it was noted that the in-house service had the right to provide input during the design process and check any final work.   

 
Projects / contracts: The nature of the engineering industry tends to be English. To encourage the use of Welsh during the purchasing process, we are 

taking the following steps;  

1) ensure that 'invitation to tender' or 'instructions to tender' documents are advertised in both languages. 

2) outline clearly, that responses submitted through the medium of Welsh will not be considered less favourably than English responses. 

We will also take advantage of the opportunity to form questions in a creative way during the tendering process that steers major contractors to ensure 

that some of the social benefits remain local e.g. ask site workers to be bilingual or able to respond to problems on the site within 45 minutes 

     

Bus and taxi contracts – It is part of the terms and conditions. The Contractor shall ensure full compliance with the Council's Welsh Language Policy.  

 

3. Are there any obstructions that prevent you as a department from offering a full service in Welsh?  

Barriers/ challenges within the Department in terms of recruiting to specialist fields in terms of qualifications and the ability to communicate in Welsh. 

 
Biodiversity / Ecologists: Over the last 12 months, posts have been advertised that require qualifications and experience in ecology and countryside 

management. Not only did we see a small number of applicants, the number who met the posts’ language requirements was also very low, for example: 

 Biodiversity / Nature Partnership Officer  

 5 applicants / 1 met the language requirements 

 Llŷn AONB Officer 

 4 applicants / 2 met the language requirements 

 
Planning Service / Joint Planning Policy: In general, terms, recruiting qualified Planners is very difficult and recruiting qualified Planners who speak Welsh 

is even more difficult. The Planning Service deals with the public every day and fluency in Welsh is therefore extremely important and despite the 

challenges, we still manage to do this. 

 

P
age 34



Over the years, the Service has been looking more at appointing applicants who have a degree in similar fields of work (e.g. Geography), and then 

training them at work in addition to paying them to achieve a qualification in the Planning field. This has been relatively successful over the years – but 

when we advertise Planning posts – the number of applicants is very low although we have been fortunate over the years to have good applicants.  

Another challenge is retaining staff in the long-term in light of salary levels by comparison with most of the other authorities in North Wales. 

 

Regional Planning Work: With a Corporate Joint-committee for the North Wales region in the pipeline, which will include a statutory duty to prepare a 

Strategic Development Plan, the time will come to appoint regional officers to prepare the Plan.  At the moment, there is no information about whether 

the Welsh language will be essential to these posts but it is likely that it is important to highlight that this could influence how it will operate in relation to 

the Welsh language. 

 
Project Management / Engineering and Transportation: As I mentioned above, the nature of the engineering field tends to be English with most 

stakeholders familiar with using English technical terms. In terms of translating tender documents, our concern is that this is not always practical in terms 

of maximising the risk of misinterpretation or losing the real meaning of specialist terms identified in the field.  Recently, we have experienced difficulties 

in attracting people to apply for the post of Senior Traffic Engineer. We believe that the main reasons for this is the lack of people who are qualified to 

the essential level in the field who also reach the Council's language requirements.   

 
Public Protection Services:  Covid has highlighted the importance of our three Public Protection services namely Pollution Control and Licensing, Food 

and Safety and Trading Standards.  There has been a demand nationally for officers with expertise and qualifications in these fields and it has certainly 

been identified there is a general shortage of these specialist skills.  Given the lack of competency in these fields, it is even more difficult to recruit qualified 

officers who can meet the linguistic level expected by the Council for such a post.  Therefore, the Department is planning to implement a training 

procedure in place to invest in individuals who already have the ability in Welsh to qualify in the Public Protection fields.  This will not solve things overnight, 

and it is likely that no such solution exists, but at least this direction has the potential of offering jobs and qualifications to local applicants who know the 

County's culture.  The department is eager to follow the same model in other services where there is a lack of expertise if this direction is seen to be 

successful. 

 
4. Do you have ideas about new ways we can promote the Welsh language in the county's communities – either in your own services or by 

collaborating with others? 

The Department continues to promote and support the use of Welsh in each one of our services and providing services to Gwynedd residents remains a 

priority.  But it must be acknowledged that the Department is facing significant challenges in terms of recruiting and appointing in the following fields: 

 
Biodiversity: Within Biodiversity / Countryside Management, Local Authorities, the National Park and Natural Resources Wales compete for officers who 

can work through the medium of Welsh. The impression is that not many young fluent Welsh speakers choose to follow relevant courses or consider this 

field as a career path.  Research to discover the situation in schools and universities would be useful to raise awareness of the field. 

 
Engineering / traffic / transportation: Should subjects such as civil engineering be taught through the medium of Welsh as well as English at schools / 

colleges, the Welsh terminology might not be as unfamiliar to companies and they may be more willing to use Welsh. 

P
age 35



 

 

 

 

Page 36



MEETING Language Committee 
 
DATE 19 October 2021 
 
TITLE Welsh Language Promotion Plan: Finance Department 
 
PURPOSE To present information about the Department’s contribution 

to the Language Policy 
 
AUTHOR Dafydd L Edwards, Head of Finance 
 

 
Background 
 
1. This report has been prepared to present information to the Language Committee 

on the contribution of the Finance Department to the Language Policy.  
 
2. The Council's Language Policy is embedded in all the Department's work, and 

this report highlights the opportunities that are available to improve the provision 
for our residents, whilst also acknowledging the challenges facing the field. 

 
 
The Language of the Finance Department’s Jobs and Staff 
 
3. Following recent work to review the linguistic requirements of all the 

Department's posts, identify the language designations of the posts, and then to 
assess the language of the Department's staff, it can be reported that 92% of 
the Department's staff have now submitted a self-assessment, and 99% of those 
reaching or passing the language designations of their posts.  

 
4. Maintaining the ability to offer our services through the medium of Welsh is 

ongoing, and we consider the language requirements of staff in our day-to-day 
work, when recruiting and appointing, when inducting and conducting ongoing 
appraisal conversations. We offer support to staff to develop their language skills, 
so that they can provide the best service to the people of Gwynedd in Welsh and 
maintain our high standards in the context of the language. 

 
 
Conclusion 
 
5.  The various services of the Finance Department support various letters, leaflets, 

forms, posters, websites and bilingual systems, with Welsh as the default 
language.  Furthermore, the Department aims to achieve the quality of 'Cymraeg 
Clir', so that Welsh customers do not feel that our Welsh language documents 
are too difficult to understand and use. 

 
6. With some specialist aspects of Finance and IT work, we are battling hard to 

reach the standard. However, if we fall short at times, I trust that this is not due 
to a lack of ambition or lack of effort by the Department.  

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



Committee Members’ Questions 
 
7. The following table has been prepared in order to present the Finance 

Department’s responses to the questions and matters that the Language 
Committee members wish to discuss, with examples of the Department’s services 
that I would like to highlight. 

 

 
1. BOOSTING AND PROMOTING 
 
How do we go beyond providing bilingually to increasing the opportunities for people 
to use the Welsh language in the community, to contribute to the national target of 
creating a million speakers, and to the Well-being goal of ensuring that the people of 
Gwynedd are “Able to live in a naturally Welsh speaking society”? 
 
Question 1 - Can you highlight any projects within your department that contribute to 
one of the Council's language strategy priorities, namely the Welsh Language 
Promotion Plan for Gwynedd? 

Response: 
 
Overall Product Quality - 
 
Extensive work by the various services of the Finance Department contributes to the 
promotion of the Welsh language, with publications such as the Council's Statement 
of Accounts, the Pension Fund’s Annual Report, and Taxation and Benefit forms 
setting the standard and are reference materials for other bodies to follow suit.  
 
Over time, we have aimed to set up different letters, leaflets, posters and forms in 
‘Cymraeg Clir’ (simple, natural and clear language) for every Taxation and Benefit 
engagement.  Our officers have worked in consultation with Canolfan Bedwyr at 
Bangor University, and with J. Elwyn Hughes, in order to achieve a readable and 
understandable quality. 
 
 

Microsoft Windows Language - 
 
The worldwide use of computers through the medium of English by businesses and 
individuals has conditioned users (even in Gwynedd) to familiarise themselves with 
English terms in various systems. Despite this, we encourage our users to work with 
the Welsh language installation on their computers.  
 
The Council supplies computers on the Microsoft Windows platform for our officers, 
serving approximately 2,700 users. These computers are received with an English 
language operating platform, which is the default standard for computers supplied in 
the UK.  By now, internal steps are taken to adjust the settings when preparing the 
computers for our users, with each new computer being equipped with a Welsh 
language operating platform.  
 
Our users are encouraged to keep this setting, but it is not mandatory, and the user 
can change it from Welsh to English. Despite this, some departments show that over 
3 in every 4 computers continue with the Welsh language setting, with around half of 
our user population across the Council now using the computer in Welsh. 
 

Page 39



 
2. OUTSOURCING WORK AND AWARDING THIRD PARTY CONTRACTS 
 
How do we ensure that the quality of the bilingual service is maintained when 
oursourcing work and awarding contracts? 
 
Question 2 - If the department outsources work on contract, can you refer to any 
good practice, either when imposing conditions or when monitoring, in order to ensure 
compliance with the linguistic conditions? 
 

Response: 
 
External Suppliers - 
 
When the Finance Department outsources work on contract, we ensure that a Welsh 
language service is offered to people within the county's communities, for example 
the customer service at Barclays Bank and the Post Office.  
 
This is not always possible with some consultancy services, due to the specialised 
nature of the market, which at times creates considerable translation work for our staff 
in order to ensure that our internal business discussions are in Welsh, and our public 
products are bilingual. 
 
 
Collaboration across Wales - 
 
In some situations, e.g. The Wales Pension Partnership, national collaboration was 
chosen, rather than outsourcing to an external company. The inter-authority 
agreement of the 8 Welsh pension funds ensures that reports to the partnership's 
joint governance committee reflect Gwynedd's bilingual standards, and ensures an 
equal platform for the language beyond the county's boundaries.  
 
There has been a similar situation with the WCCIS computer system for supporting 
care cases of all kinds, provided nationally by Care Works. The considerable input of 
Gwynedd Council’s IT developers has enabled the system to provide as much as 
possible bilingually.  
 
Gwynedd Council is also represented on the Welsh Government's Welsh Language 
Technology Board, which advises the Minister on establishing a "Welsh Language 
Technology Action Plan", and is part of the Welsh Government's Welsh 2050 
strategy. The action plan has now been published, with Council representation 
continuing to assist the Government on these issues. 
 

  

Page 40



 
3. OPERATING BILINGUALLY 
 
How do we succeed in implementing the requirements of the Welsh Language and 
Standards Policy?  
 
Question 3 - Are there any obstructions that prevent you as a department to offer a 
full service in Welsh? 

 

Response: 
 
Virtual Translation - 
 
It was noted above that English-medium computer systems could hinder the Council’s 
ability to provide a Welsh language service, and this was highlighted by virtual 
translation during the Covid crisis, when there were urgent developments. 
 
At the end of March 2020, there were far-reaching changes for holding meetings. It 
was not possible to hold face-to-face meetings and so we turned to virtual meetings. 
The Council's in-house provision at the time was 'Skype for Business', soon upgrading 
to 'Microsoft Teams', with the new technology working seamlessly in Welsh for the 
Council’s internal meetings.  
 
However, with the re-establishment of external, democratic and inter-agency 
meetings, the provision for simultaneous translation was required.  By now, Microsoft 
Teams was the standard provision in the Council and, indeed, is still firmly established 
across Wales, but unfortunately, the provision for simultaneous translation was not 
part of the package. 
 
For a while, through the co-operation of the Council's technical teams and translation 
service, a way of working was introduced where it was possible to conduct a 
simultaneous translation service on this medium, but this was an awkward and 
unreliable solution as it extended the capabilities of the software beyond its original 
purpose.  
 
Through collaboration between the translation, democratic and information 
technology services, a durable, reliable, easy-to-use and effective simultaneous 
translation service was introduced on the Zoom platform. This platform remains active 
for any meeting requiring simultaneous translation, as there is a further delay in 
delivering the provision on the Microsoft Teams platform.  
 
Although the democratic meetings of the Council continue to be virtual, our use of 
Zoom and simultaneous translation provision enables us to broadcast a full program 
of Council meetings live on our website. 
 

  

Page 41



 
4. DEVELOPING NEW OPPORTUNITIES 
 
Question 4 - Do you have ideas about new ways we can use to promote the 
Welsh language in the county's communities - either in your own services or by 
collaborating with others? 
 

Response: 
 
The Language Charter - 
 
The Information Technology project 'The Language Charter' is an example of 
proactive development that has promoted the Welsh language within the county's 
communities and beyond.  
 
The aim of the Language Charter, which is funded by the Welsh Government, is 
to increase children and young people's informal use of the Welsh language in 
social situations. The Language Charter was established in Gwynedd in 2011/12. 
Over time, the program was delivered in Welsh-medium primary schools across 
Wales, and by the 2019/20 academic year, 423 schools were participating in the 
Language Charter.  
 
The language charter is based on measuring pupils' progress anonymously 
through “The Web Language” software developed by Gwynedd Council's 
Information Technology Service for internal use in the County's schools, and 
when the Charter's use was expanded nationally, the use of “the Web Language” 
was extended nationally, adapting it into a bilingual package and staging it on 
HWB's national infrastructure. 
 

 
 
 

Page 42



Stepping Forward
The Welsh Language 
Commissioner’s assurance report 
2020-21 

2 Fetr

2 Metres

Welcome

Croeso

Published in accordance with section 4 of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011
September 2021 Page 43

Agenda Item 8



 

1 

 

Content 
 

 

Foreword 

1   Summary report: main findings       3  

2   Context: regulation during the pandemic      6 

3   The effect of COVID-19 on the provision of Welsh language services 15 

4   The effect of COVID-19 on organisations’ internal arrangements  34 

Appendices 

 

 

Page 44



 

2 

 

The Commissioner’s Foreword  

It has been a year like no other - as the Covid-19 pandemic forced us all to live our day-

to-day lives in different ways, public sector bodies in Wales have also had to adapt 

quickly to a ‘new normal’. A ‘normal’ where meetings and appointments were held 

virtually; a ‘normal’ where it did not matter where staff answering the telephone were 

geographically located; a ‘normal’ where reception services could not be provided as 

usual and a ‘normal’ where instructions and messages were regularly and urgently 

published to an entire population on social media.   

The pandemic has certainly presented many challenges and continues to do so, but it 

has also provided opportunities for our public organisations to deliver services in 

different and innovative ways. A few organisations embraced the opportunity to secure 

Welsh language provision, while others failed to take the opportunity to ensure that 

new arrangements maintained and promoted the provision of services to Welsh 

speakers.  

Usually, in my annual assurance report, I express an opinion on how public 

organisations have taken action to comply with their statutory language duties. The 

emphasis this year however is different as I’m keen to recognise how difficult the period 

has been, particularly for those working in the health sector and within other key public 

sector organisations across Wales.  

As such, the purpose of this report is to summarise what we have learnt to date about 

the impact of the pandemic on public organisations’ Welsh language provision and 

Welsh speakers’ experiences of services – not only the barriers that have had a 

detrimental impact but also the effective practices identified. Its main value being that it 

highlights the lessons to be learnt so that organisations can take action to strengthen 

future provision and increase the use of the Welsh language.  

The Covid-19 pandemic will undoubtedly change the way public services are delivered 

in Wales from now on and some organisations will need to adapt in response to the 

messages in this report, as others have already done. They must act to ensure, not only 

that they provide the public services that Welsh speakers are entitled to, but that they 

also take seriously their responsibility for their promotion to encourage the citizens of 

Wales to use them. 

 

Aled Roberts  

Welsh Language Commissioner 

September 2021 

Page 45



 

3 

 

1 Report summary: main findings  

This section provides a summary of the Commissioner's findings on the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic on public sector organisations’ use of the Welsh language during 2020-2021.  

Guidance is provided following the challenging time of the pandemic, to give public 

organisations an opportunity this year to learn from the findings and to take action to 

strengthen provision and increase the use of the Welsh language to the future - it is their 

responsibility to ensure that they comply with their duties. 

Organisations have taken advantage of opportunities to innovate and 
strengthen Welsh language services provision 

 A few organisations were able to innovate and respond urgently early in the pandemic, 

introducing new online services in Welsh. It demonstrates that organisations can consider 

the Welsh language from the outset when implementing projects. 

 As meetings became virtual some organisations found technical solutions to enable 

continued use of the Welsh language. Others however, reported that they could not adapt 

and were unable to provide a service in Welsh or enable staff to use the language when 

working. 

The Commissioner produced urgent guidance: Holding bilingual video meetings to 

provide practical advice to organisations on how bilingual services can be offered 

virtually. Simultaneous translation provision is still lacking in some online meeting 

platforms and as such, organisations need to put in place alternative arrangements 

to enable use of the Welsh language. 

 Although there has been great pressure on organisations' translation services during the 

pandemic with the requirement for them to publish important and lengthy material as a 

matter of urgency; it appears that many succeeded. Developments to the arrangements of a 

few organisations, which include technical solutions, demonstrate the efforts made to adapt 

and be more flexible to ensure that the Welsh and English languages continue to be used 

side by side. 

The Commissioner has an advice note: Bilingual drafting, translation and face-to-face 

use of the Welsh language which provides guidance to organisations on how to make 

innovative, effective and responsible use of translation services of all kinds to 

facilitate the offer of bilingual services of the highest quality. This report also 

provides examples of organisations that have established arrangements for the 

urgent translation of text and processes for prioritising specific types of information 

where the capacity of the translation service has been affected, as in a situation of 
pandemic.  

Page 46



 

4 

 

Barriers highlighted the already emerging gap between organisations 
that comply well and those that do not have adequate arrangements in 
place  

 Organisations with robust self-regulation processes were able to anticipate and deal better 

with difficulties that arose during the pandemic. They were most likely to have Welsh-

medium provision that was resilient enough not to be adversely affected. They put business 

continuity arrangements, or specific supervision arrangements in place to continue to 

comply with their duties during the challenging period. 

Organisations that failed to continue operating need to take a look at the 

arrangements of those who succeeded. The Commissioner has an advice note: 

Overseeing compliance that provides guidance on putting accountability, 

performance management and verification arrangements in place to ensure that an 

organisation is meeting its duties. 

 Urgent decisions were made by some organisations without regard to the Welsh language. 

As a result, in a few situations a Welsh language service wasn’t available as it used to be. 

Organisations need to amend their emergency response plans and strategies to 

ensure that consideration is given to the impact of decisions on Welsh language 

provision, they need to have robust business continuity arrangements in place that 

include continuing to promote use of the Welsh language. 

 Although the translation services of some organisations coped well during the pandemic 

emergency statements and materials about the pandemic were published in English only or 

published in Welsh later than English. 

Organisations need to ensure that their translation services are resilient enough to 

allow them to publish important information in Welsh; this could require the 

development of translation services, the adaptation of arrangements or an increase 

in the Welsh language skills capacity of the workforce more generally. 

 The move to virtual meetings demonstrated the reliance of organisations on the provision 

of online communication platforms of large multinational companies in order to comply 

with the standards and use two languages. 

The Welsh Government already operates strategically with the relevant companies. 

This is an essential step in order to enable organisations to hold virtual meetings in 

two languages and to ensure that employees' use of the Welsh language is not 

restricted as part of new working arrangements. 

  

Page 47



 

5 

 

The importance of promotion activity was highlighted, to increase use 
of the Welsh language  

 The Welsh language standards place a duty on organisations not only to provide Welsh 

language services but also to promote those services, to ensure that people are aware of 

them and use them. As more public services are delivered digitally because of the 

pandemic, it needs to be recognised that a cohort of users assume, on the basis of 

experience, that services will not be available – it is essential to inform them that the 

services are available to ensure increased use of the Welsh language. 

Organisations need to ensure that Welsh language services provided are effectively 

promoted and resources allocated to enable this. 

 New practices were adopted as new patterns of working were introduced during the 

pandemic – for example, staff who did not previously draft Welsh language text were 

encouraged to do so rather than rely on translation services, as there was a need to move 

quickly to share key messages.   

It is an important time for organisations to consider what interventions they can plan 

and deliver as an integral part of the introduction of new ways of working, to 

increase the use of the Welsh language in the workplace. 

 A few organisations took advantage of the new online provision of the National Centre for 

Learning Welsh 'Working Welsh' programme to provide opportunities for staff to develop 

their Welsh language skills. The potential for higher numbers to take advantage of the new 

provision has become apparent as the investment in terms of time and travel costs is 

reduced and more flexibility in terms of study time. 

Those organisations who found it difficult to maintain provision during the 

pandemic need to consider what adaptations they can plan and deliver to provide 

opportunities for their staff to develop their Welsh language skills. 

 Organisations will face new and different policy decisions because of the pandemic, and it is 

essential that the impact on the Welsh language is fully considered.1 

During 2021-22 organisations subject to Regulations No. 1 should consider the 

impact of Covid-19 on the Welsh language when reviewing and adapting their 

promotion strategies for the next 5 years – impacts such as the changes to working 

practices on the housing market in some counties and the opportunities arising from 

the Government's intention to establish community hubs. 

  

 
1 in line with the requirements of the policy making standards 

Page 48



 

6 

 

2 Context: regulation during the pandemic  

2.1 During March 2020 when organisations across the public sector in Wales were putting 

plans in place to deal with the exceptional circumstances resulting from the Covid-19 

pandemic, the Commissioner had a responsibility to consider its impact on his ability to 

exercise his functions under the Welsh Language Measure.  Welsh language standards 

and Welsh language schemes remained in place and safeguarded important rights – he 

wanted to see opportunities to use the Welsh language maintained despite the challenges 

of the pandemic.   

2.2 The Commissioner stated in his assurance report for 2019-20, Closing the Gap, that he 

saw a risk of a significant gap developing between organisations that have made 

considerable progress since the introduction of the Welsh language standards that are 

complying well with their statutory duties, and those that didn’t have adequate 

arrangements in place to ensure compliance. It became clear that there was a risk that the 

pandemic could intensify the trend particularly as a few organisations, where concerns 

already existed about non-compliance, were relocating staff with responsibility for the 

Welsh language to other departments to undertake work related to the pandemic.  

Adapting regulatory methods  

2.3 To assist efforts to prevent the spread of the virus, the Commissioner wanted to avoid 

putting additional pressure on public sector bodies. He realised that the priority over the 

challenging period to come, for health sector organisations in particular, would be to 

manage the task of preventing the spread of Covid-19 and to deal with the increasing 

pressure of caring for a significant number of patients. He anticipated that the employees 

of some organisations would need to work under intense circumstances, and he did not 

want them to have to deal with additional stress whilst the demands on them were at 

their peak. Organisations in other sectors would also be likely to have to change their 

usual arrangements, with fewer staff available and many working from home. The 

Commissioner anticipated that they too might not be able to always follow normal 

processes, and that there would be significant constraints on time and resources. 

However, he considered the responsibility of organisations to share information and 

advice to the citizens of Wales continues an important service.  

2.4 The Commissioner contacted public sector organisations at the end of March 2020 to 

share information on how he intended to adapt his regulatory approach under the 

circumstances. He emphasised that he still had a duty to regulate and asked organisations 

to continue to do their best to use the Welsh language when engaging with the public as 

far as possible. He urged organisations to put adequate translation arrangements in place 

as part of their preparations to communicate with the public and advised that it would be 

for the organisations to make decisions about how to use the Welsh language when 

sharing emergency information, depending on the circumstances and any crisis situations 

during the pandemic.  

Page 49



 

7 

 

Applicability of Welsh language standard duties in a pandemic  

2.5 Organisations were notified in March 2020 that exceptions had been included in the 

Welsh language standards regulations that take account of emergency situations that may 

be relevant to the current pandemic. For example, regulations No. 2, 5 and 7 allow 

consideration to be given to excluding the requirements of a body to supply a service 

when an emergency occurs and the service provided by it is necessary for the purpose of 

preventing, controlling, or mitigating an aspect of that emergency, and that there is an 

urgent need for the service. Therefore, in circumstances where the relevant conditions 

are met, there would be no requirement for some organisations to comply with some of 

the Welsh language standards.  

2.6 Several requests were received from organisations for clarity about the applicability of 

their duties – investigations into complaints received by the Commissioner from the 

public subsequently highlighted that there was still a lack of understanding in the case of 

a few organisations that led to deliberate and unintentional decisions not to comply with 

the standards. This in turn had a detrimental effect on the provision of Welsh language 

services to the public. 

Postponing the complaints handling process and statutory investigations  

2.7 Between April and July 2020 all statutory investigations relating to health boards and 

NHS trusts in Wales were postponed. Some investigations into organisations in other 

sectors were also delayed – county councils and Welsh Ministers were informed by the 

Commissioner that he was willing to delay investigation processes if an organisation 

informed him that it was unable to respond to provide information within the usual 

timescale.  

2.8 The Commissioner contacted complainants to invite them to comment on his intention to 

amend the agreed timetable for the statutory investigations he had already begun. 

Complainants were assured that where the Commissioner decided to delay an 

investigation, he would recommence the process once he considered it was appropriate 

to do so.  

2.9 It was also decided to defer making decisions whether to investigate new complaints 

received between April 2020 and July 2020, including all complaints received relating to 

health boards and NHS trusts in Wales. The complaints process was re-commenced in 

August as the Commissioner believed that the additional pressures of the Covid-19 

pandemic had reduced sufficiently. 

Page 50



 

8 

 

2.10 A total of 117 complaints were received about organisations that operate Welsh language 

standards duties in the 12 months between April 2020 and March 2021 – over a third less 

in number than the previous two years. 24 complaints related to services linked to Covid-

19. (A further 11 complaints relating to Covid were received between 1 April and 31 July 

2021). During the initial period of the pandemic, fewer complaints were received about 

public organisations' compliance with the standards than during the same months in 

previous years. The number of complaints was very low in April and May 2020 but 

increased subsequently until they returned to usual levels by August and September 

2020.   

2.11 Some individuals contacted the Commissioner during the year to highlight what they 

considered to be shortcomings in the provision of Welsh language services but expressed 

that they did not wish to make a complaint. Many of the concerns related to ‘test and 

trace’ services and the Covid-19 vaccination programme and in providing information 

about their experiences people noted the challenging circumstances in which the 

organisations were operating as a reason for not wanting to make a formal complaint.  

Delaying the process of challenging duties  

2.12 The Commissioner was dealing with several requests from NHS Wales organisations to 

challenge duties under section 55 of the Welsh Language Measure in March 2020. It was 

decided to allow them more time to respond to the initial comments on their applications 

than is usually allowed – all applications were finally determined upon by October 2020.  

At the start of lockdown, it was more 
difficult to conduct complaints 
investigations. This was because quite a 
few changes had suddenly taken place, 
officers had to be given the opportunity 
to cope with the new situation and sort 
out the new approaches ... we had a 
period of respite from having to carry 
out investigations by the Office of the 
Welsh Language Commissioner. As time 
goes on, and officers start to work in the 
order of the 'new normal' we are able to 
deal with complaints in the usual way 
following the corporate complaints 
process.  

Local authority 

The discretion shown by the 
Commissioner in dealing with 
complaints during the period March to 
August significantly helped to free up 
officers' time to work to ensure 
continuity of bilingual services during 
the challenging circumstances caused by 
the pandemic. A great number of officers 
were moved to vital roles at the start of 
the pandemic (this policy was 
reintroduced in early October), making it 
difficult to respond to ongoing 
investigations. Very few complaints 
relating to our bilingual services were 
received by the public during this period. 

Welsh Ministers 

 

 

Page 51



 

9 

 

Adapting monitoring methods: conducting a thematic survey on the impact of the 
pandemic  

2.13 The Commissioner had to postpone his usual monitoring and engagement activities 

during 2020-2021 due to the limitations of the pandemic. He usually conducts a series of 

mystery shopper surveys to put himself in the user's shoes and to gather direct evidence 

about the experience of using public services. The Commissioner usually visits reception 

areas to test front line services, signage provision and self-service points. He also usually 

conducts surveys to test other services such as telephone, correspondence, and websites. 

The findings of these surveys are usually the main evidence base for his annual assurance 

report. Due to restrictions caused by the pandemic this monitoring activity had to be 

postponed.  

2.14 Instead, a Covid-19 thematic study was undertaken in Autumn 2020 to gather the views 

of public organisations on the impact of the pandemic on their ability to provide Welsh 

language services. The Commissioner has also relied on information from other sources 

as an evidence base for his report this year.2  

2.15 The Commissioner recognises that it is not possible to rely solely on the evidence of the 

Covid-19 thematic survey to report on the impact of the pandemic on the provision of 

Welsh language services. Responding to the Commissioner’s survey was optional and it is 

likely that the organisations with the resources and eagerness to respond to the survey 

had done so and that this could have put a more positive bias on its findings. The 

Commissioner is therefore not suggesting that the findings are representative of the 

situation across the board.  

2.16 To try and achieve balance and to include evidence from users about their experiences of 

using public services during the pandemic it is possible to refer to evidence presented to 

the Commissioner from members of the public in their complaints during the period April 

2020 – March 2021, and the findings of the annual Welsh Speakers Omnibus Survey.  

Public expectations: Welsh Speakers Omnibus Survey 

2.17 The findings of the Welsh Speakers Omnibus Survey annually allow the Commissioner to 

note if there are changes over time in public attitudes towards Welsh language services 

provided to them. The findings can be a measure of the extent to which the experiences of 

people who use Welsh language services have improved as the standards system embeds. 

This year however, comparison with previous years may not be entirely fair as the 

pandemic has forced a change in the methodology of the research with a shift from face-

to-face interviews to online interviews. The services were also delivered in a different 

way by organisations. 

 
2 Further details on the Covid-19 thematic survey methodology and other evidence sources are in appendix 1 

 

Page 52



 

10 

 

2.18 In November 2020, the Omnibus survey showed:  

 That 35% of Welsh speakers believed that opportunities to use the Welsh language 

with public organisations were increasing and 45% felt that they remained the 

same – a 2% decrease from last year in those who agreed that there was an 

increase.  

 16% of Welsh speakers preferred to use the Welsh language when dealing with 

public bodies, a decrease from the findings of the previous two years (33% and 

32%).   

 82% of Welsh speakers agreed that they are usually able to deal with public 

organisations in Welsh if they wish to do so.  

 20% of Welsh speakers noted that someone had prevented them from speaking 

Welsh with someone else who also wanted to speak Welsh – a 5% increase in the 

percentage who reported experiencing interference last year. 

2.19 It should be noted that the survey was carried out in November 2020 during a period 

when the public were unable to use public services to the same extent or in the same way 

as they had in previous years. Evidence in section 3 of this report confirms that services 

were not always provided in Welsh on all occasions. It is therefore perhaps not surprising 

that fewer Welsh speakers stated that they favour using Welsh with public organisations.  

2.20 70% of Welsh speakers surveyed agreed that the Welsh language services of public 

organisations were improving – an increase of 6% over two years.   

2.21 61% of Welsh speakers agreed that they felt that the quality of Welsh-language public 

services was as good as English language services – this represents an increase of 14% 

over two years.   

2.22 43% said that they disagreed that organisations make it clear how to complain if they are 

dissatisfied with their Welsh language services.  

Holding virtual meetings bilingually  

2.23 Many organisations in Wales have statutory duties to provide Welsh language services – 

both to the public and to their own staff. These duties include the requirement to enable 

people to use the Welsh language at meetings of all kinds, both public and private. These 

may be meetings of a sensitive nature, for example meetings about an individual's 

welfare, disciplinary hearings etc. Enabling an individual to use their preferred language 

in such situations can often be seen as a necessity rather than a choice, and an integral 

part of organisations' duty of care to individuals.     

2.24 Shortly after the start of lockdown it became clear that fundamental changes to people's 

lives and working patterns because of the restrictions were causing a revolution in the 

use of technology, particularly those technologies that allow people to hold meetings 

Page 53



 

11 

 

remotely. Public organisations were now being forced to maintain services through the 

provision of virtual meetings and by May 2020 the Commissioner had prepared advice to 

provide practical guidance on how to continue to offer quality bilingual services. The 

advice was based primarily on the experiences of the Senedd which had been successfully 

holding virtual bilingual meetings since April 2020 and the expert input of the 

Association of Welsh Translators and Interpreters and the Translation Studies 

Consortium.  

2.25 It was highlighted to the Commissioner by some public organisations that they favoured 

the use of Microsoft Teams to hold virtual meetings, whilst others adopted different 

software such as Zoom as the software enabled an additional channel for simultaneous 

translation. It became apparent that there was a risk of an organisation failing to comply 

with its statutory duties if the software it used to hold meetings did not enable people to 

use the Welsh language, let alone the detrimental impact that this could have on people's 

wellbeing.  

2.26 As a result, the Commissioner decided to write to Microsoft in November 2020 to convey 

his real concern that public organisations that chose to continue to use Microsoft Teams 

were in danger of failing to comply with their statutory duties and neglected to provide 

opportunities for people to the Welsh language. In recognising the innovative investment 

in the past by Microsoft to develop Welsh-language interfaces, he expressed his hope that 

the company would use the same innovation to support the use of the Welsh language in 

this context as a matter of urgency – particularly as virtual meetings are now an integral 

part of people's daily working practices.  

Advising on the moral and ethical issues of Covid-19  

2.27 A group was brought together by the Welsh Government in April 2020 to provide 

independent advice to the health service on issues relating to the moral, ethical, cultural 

and faith matters during the Covid-19 pandemic. The COVID-19: Wales Moral and Ethical 

Issues Advisory Group provided advice to help the health service manage issues arising 

from the pandemic in a fair and equitable manner, with the aim of ensuring that all 

citizens of Wales receive care and respect equally.  

International context 

2.28 As a pandemic is international in its nature, the impact of Covid-19 on the Welsh language 

can be considered in a worldwide context. The International Association of Language 

Commissioners network has enabled the Commissioner to learn about the common 

challenges the pandemic presented to minority languages across the world and to share 

information about its impact on the Welsh language to date.  

Page 54



 

12 

 

2.29 The Commissioner of Official Languages of Canada reported that the pandemic had 

illustrated on the one hand the strength and resilience of federal institutions while, on the 

other hand, has shed a harsh light on what isn’t working: specifically, internal structural 

barriers.  

2.30 A report was published by him in October 2020 A Matter of Respect and Safety: The 

Impact of Emergency Situations on Official Languages – a study on the impact of 

emergencies on official languages. The report's key finding was that one official language 

often takes a back seat in emergency situations and therefore recommended that the 

Government of Canada should implement internal procedures and work tools for 

communications in both official languages, and then evaluate their effectiveness in 

normal times and in times of crisis. 

 

During times of crisis, the limited capacity of federal institutions to 
provide services to the public in both official languages becomes 
apparent. If a federal institution has underestimated the level of 
language skills required for its employees, despite the tasks and 
duties of their positions, then during an emergency situation, those 
employees will likely be unable to respond to the public with the same 
attention to detail and quality of service in both official languages. The 
same is true for managers when it comes to supporting their 
employees. 

The COVID-19 pandemic forced our federal institutions to react 
promptly and decisively … too often, urgent safety communications 
were issued in only one of our two official languages, and Canadians 
had to wait for the translation into the other official language. This 
situation exposed the corporate culture of many work units in federal 
institutions that do not always prioritize official languages or respect 
the principle of equality of English and French.  

I firmly believe that changes are needed within the federal 
government so that during emergencies, official languages stop being 
an afterthought and start being an integral part of crisis management. 

Raymond Théberge, Commissioner of Official Languages, Canada  

Page 55



 

13 

 

2.31 In his Tuarascáil Bhliantúil Annual Report 2020 the Irish Language Commissioner notes 

that the state has been facing huge challenges providing for those who needed it most 

during a time when the world was in the grip of a health, social and economic crisis. He 

added that valuable experience is being gained as these challenges are addressed which 

will be of benefit to the public service in the times ahead and that circumstances such as 

these provide some insight as to how securely rights legislation is embedded in the state 

administration.  

One in five complaints I received this year related to the health 
crisis; information wasn’t available in Irish or there was a delay in 
providing it in Irish compared to English. One such issue which 
upset complainants was public bodies erecting English-only signs 
regarding COVID-19, as if the regulations under the Act simply didn’t 
exist ... This is a substantial and visual failing of a basic statutory 
obligation which has been in place for over ten years. 

The general feeling amongst those who contacted my Office was that 
the first official language was being brushed aside or that the 
language and Irish language speakers were being marginalised on 
occasion, at a time when bringing the public together in common 
purpose was required. 

Rónán Ó Domhnaill, Irish Language Commissioner 

The complaints my office has received over the past few years, the 
investigations we have conducted and the report we released on emergency 
situations clearly show the recurrent nature of this problem. One of the root 
causes of this issue is the improper assessment of the language requirements 
of positions, which means that many public servants lack the second 
language skills to be able to respond to the public or supervise employees in 
either official language.  

In my opinion, the problem relates to a certain lack of maturity on the part of 
federal institutions when it comes to official languages, which translates into 
two things: a lack of clearly defined processes and mechanisms integrated 
into the business processes of federal institutions; and a work environment 
where employees rarely have the opportunity to speak or work in the non-
predominant official language, be it their first or second official language. 

Raymond Théberge, Commissioner of Official Languages, Canada 

Page 56



 

14 

 

2.32 His investigations during 2020-21 found common themes in the responses from public 

bodies about their statutory obligations – the need to take a particular action urgently 

that, due to the extremely rare circumstances of the health emergency, led to decisions 

being taken to not give effect to statutory language obligations, to defer them, or to ignore 

them as it would delay whatever action was being undertaken. 

2.33 The Irish Language Commissioner noted that there should not be any conflict between 

the serious national actions underway to deal with the pandemic and the responsibilities 

regarding language rights. He says that the basis of the argument by public bodies is the 

resource needed to comply with linguistic duties, and that providing services bilingually 

could lead to delay. If the argument was valid, it would create a situation where service 

provision in Irish would depend on the particular situation in question and the priorities 

or resources of the public body - this could lead to a situation where the more important 

and urgent the service is, the less chance would be for the public to receive them in Irish.  

  

 

 

  

There should not be a conflict between the grave national 
actions underway and obligations regarding language rights.  

Rónán Ó Domhnaill, Irish Language Commissioner 

Page 57



 

15 

 

3 The effect of COVID-19 on the provision of Welsh 
language services 

Context 

3.1 As already mentioned, the Commissioner conducted a survey in Autumn 2020 to gather 

the views of public organisations on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on their Welsh 

language provision. This section of the report summarises the evidence received about 

the impact on service provision – quotations were selected to reflect organisations’ 

different views. 

3.2 The majority of organisations responding to the survey reported that the pandemic had 

no greater impact on their front-line Welsh language services such as reception and 

telephone services – in comparison with the English-language equivalent – and that 

Welsh services continued to be offered in the same way they were before the crisis. This 

however does not mean that the organisations were complying with their duties, simply 

that they continued to offer the Welsh services to the same extent as before the 

pandemic. 

3.3 Where it was noted by organisations in their response to the survey that there had been 

no impact whatsoever on Welsh language service provision, this does not mean that 

Welsh language provision was adequate, or compliant. In addition, because the same 

duties have not been placed on all organisations and as there are exceptions to some 

duties in an emergency in some cases, references to delays or shortcomings in Welsh 

language services during the pandemic do not necessarily mean that there was failure to 

comply. 

3.4 This section also contains some evidence received from members of the public when they 

presented complaints to the Commissioner between April 2020 and March 2021. They 

have been selected to reflect different experiences where the Commissioner has 

successfully completed the investigation process and informed the organisations of his 

determination and the steps he is imposing to correct any failures.  

Front line services 

Reception 

3.5 Some organisations reported that their reception services had ceased completely as 

offices were closed (either wholly or to visitors). Where a reception service had restarted 

or continued, there were suggestions that they had been adapted, e.g. taking place on an 

appointment-only basis, or with fewer staff.  

Page 58



 

16 

 

3.6 A few organisations noted that adaptations had meant that fewer Welsh-speaking staff 

were available, but in other organisations it was reported that the capacity of Welsh 

language services was not affected.  

Telephone 

3.7 Some organisations reported that they transferred telephone services to the homes of 

staff without it affecting Welsh language service delivery. However, there were also 

examples of organisations who had difficulty transferring calls to Welsh speakers, either 

due to technical reasons or due to a lack of staff. Whilst a few organisations saw a 

comparable increase in the use of telephone services, others reported that the Welsh 

services did not increase at the same rate as their English equivalents.  

3.8 A few organisations referred specifically to new technical solutions that enabled 

improvements to telephone call transfer arrangements so that a Welsh language 

telephone service could be provided as staff worked from home. 

Telephone calls are still answered bilingually so there is no 
impact on the answering service. However, telephone calls 
cannot be transferred directly as staff work from home … 
there are potential delays in speaking to key Welsh speaking 
personnel. 

Local Authority 

 

Closing buildings and restricting staff numbers made it difficult to 
obtain / allocate staff with Welsh skills. Many employees were 
seconded to work in the Tracking, Tracking and Safeguarding section, 
which reduced the number of Welsh speakers. 

Local Authority 

 

 

We introduced a new telephone system that enabled residents to identify a language 
choice - English or Welsh - before choosing which service they wanted to talk to an 
adviser about. With the vast majority of residents wishing to speak in English this 
meant that, most of the time, our Welsh speaker was already dealing with an English 
speaker and was not always available. This was identified as a matter of concern and 
a voicemail saving facility was added, where a Welsh speaker could leave a message 
which would be transferred to a Welsh-speaking councillor to deal with the issue as a 
priority. 

Local Authority 

Page 59



 

17 

 

3.9 A few organisations referred to the introduction of online chat as a means of reducing 

contact through reception and telephone, and had made Welsh speaking staff available. 

Meetings 

3.10 Introducing online meetings was the most prominent technical development introduced 

by organisations during the pandemic. Although references were made to difficulties in 

terms of lack of simultaneous translation in some online meeting platforms, it appeared 

that some had been able to overcome them by for example, using a platform that does 

allow simultaneous translation, using two systems to have two audio streams or ensuring 

that everyone that the meeting (attendees and staff) spoke Welsh. 

A technical solution was urgently needed at the end of March to enable our 
Customer Care Centre staff to answer calls on our main telephone number from 
home, using mobile phones.  A similar system was in place already for 
emergencies. This system has been adapted to respond to calls as normal. The 
first emergency solution introduced at the end of March did not offer the 
customer a language choice beyond a recorded message in Welsh, but this was 
resolved very soon to ensure that the system offered a proactive language choice 
to all customers as usual. 

Welsh Government sponsored body 

Any meetings with individuals have been held by virtual means 
due to workplace and wider restrictions. The impact has been 
similar to the impact on English language meetings in terms of 
administration and support to ensure effective arrangements. 
Translation ability is supported through our meeting platform, 
and we would seek to provide any required language services in 
the same way as if it were a face-to-face meeting. 

Police Commissioner 

 

We had to urgently review the simultaneous translation element of our 
work to ensure that the right to speak Welsh at a Court hearing was 
maintained as they became virtual. The team achieved this by using a 
combination of CVP (video cloud platform) and a BTMeetMe call for the 
translation. Once the process was approved it was ensured that the 
translators had the opportunity to try the system and subsequently 
comprehensive instructions were drawn up on how to use it. 

UK Government Agency 

Page 60



 

18 

 

3.11 However, some organisations confirmed that they had introduced video meetings that 

did not enable the use of the Welsh language, and that having to move to conduct online 

meetings had restricted their ability to enable the use of the Welsh language. The 

evidence did not always explain what the reasons were for not using a platform that 

allows for simultaneous translation – a few indicated that concerns over safety was a 

factor. 

 

 

As staff were working from home 
during the pandemic, it meant that 
face to face meetings were either 
cancelled or carried out via MS 
Teams which does not support 
simultaneous translation.  

Local Authority 

 

 

A key development for us as 
an organisation has been the 
introduction of online fitness 
to practice hearings, which 
have taken place remotely, 
using Zoom, since September 
2020. During these hearings, a 
simultaneous translation 
service is available, to ensure 
that participants can do so in 
the language of their choice 
(English or Welsh). 

Welsh Government sponsored 
body 

 

Video consultation software enables more 
Welsh speaking staff to be matched with Welsh 
speaking patients – this could be more difficult 
in the previous clinical settings where Welsh 
speaking staff would need to travel long 
distances to meet patients. 

Health Board 

 

The Council installed Microsoft Teams throughout 
the organisation. It is positive that the Welsh 
Government is developing work so that Teams can 
facilitate the use of simultaneous translation. We 
are constantly looking for continuous 
improvements and learning lessons as we adapt to 
a new way of working and using new technologies. 

Local Authority 

 

Our organisation’s preferred solution for 
virtual meetings Webex prevented the use 
of Welsh, as simultaneous translation is not 
currently available. Some regional 
meetings which would usually have offered 
simultaneous translation did not offer this 
when meetings were held virtually. 

Local Authority 

 

Page 61



 

19 

 

 

Complaint about webcasting a meeting 

 

 

 

 

 

A member of the public complained about their local council's webcasting service. The 

Commissioner decided to investigate the complaint because he considered that streaming 

meetings has been a service that local authorities have provided for some time. The case 

also raised questions about the third-party provider's understanding of the requirements 

on the council.  

It was reported that the company proving the service on behalf of the council had 

experienced technical challenges in using secure and appropriate software and providing 

equipment to enable a meeting to be recorded and uploaded remotely to the internet. The 

council acknowledged that it was aware that it was not possible to watch the meeting on 

the Welsh version of the webcasting website, although it was available on the English 

version of the website. By the time the Commissioner completed the investigation the 

council had modified the process of archiving meeting recordings to ensure that the 

meeting could be watched on the Welsh and English webcasting website. 

The investigation has highlighted the need to ensure that service adaptations are planned 

in a way that takes account of the requirements of the Welsh language standards and that 

plans for responding to an emergency should be amended to ensure that consideration is 

given to the impact of decisions on Welsh language provision. The need for organisations 

using third parties to provide webcasting services was also highlighted to ensure that 

providers were clear about any requirements under Welsh language standards. 

Written materials and text  

Correspondence 

3.12 The majority of organisations responding to the survey noted that Welsh correspondence 

had not been affected by the pandemic, with some detailing that normal processes were 

in place. A few referred to English only correspondence being sent, or that there were 

delays in sending a Welsh version. 

 

 

It is not possible to watch a meeting of my local council's 
Cabinet on its Welsh language website, unlike the English 
version of the website where it is possible to watch the 
meeting smoothly. 

Member of the public, November 2020 

 

 

Page 62



 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

All correspondence 
is treated in the 
same way as before 
the pandemic, with 
no difference 
between Welsh and 
English. 

Police 
Commissioner 

 

The Translation Team has been 
continuing to provide a full translation 
service from home. A message was sent 
to Senior Management at the start of the 
lockdown to inform that there was no 
impact on the translation service. The 
translation team prioritised any letters, 
press releases, job descriptions 
specifically related to Covid-19.   

Health Board 

 

On very rare occasions messages have 
been sent in English only with Welsh 
following shortly afterwards, for 
example when we are required to 
provide urgent responses to our 
student cohort following lockdown 
announcements by Ministers. This is 
due to additional pressure on our usual 
translation providers which has led to 
some delays. 

Further/Higher Education College 

 

All new correspondence was sent to students in 
Welsh and English. When registration was 
introduced online, all automatic messages from 
the central Information System were sent in 
both English and Welsh. 

Further/Higher Education College 

 

Page 63



 

21 

 

 

3.13 A few organisations noted that responding to correspondence in Welsh was a service not 

available at all during the period. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Correspondence was considered to be an 
emergency and staff were not required to 
translate. Ensuring communication from staff 
meant that translation was not always possible 
and that the number of communications grew 
daily.  We are slowly returning to a regular 
communication schedule. 

NHS Wales organisation 

 

Paper correspondence, post 
and emails were handled in the 
usual way during and after 
lockdown.  However, at times, 
due to the flow of electronic 
correspondence and 
tremendous work pressure on 
officers during this period, the 
response time for some 
correspondence was slower 
than normal.  However, the 
situation was the same in 
relation to correspondence in 
both languages – there was no 
additional delay in responding 
to Welsh correspondence. 

National Park Authority  

 

The Welsh e-mail service had been closed 
between 20 March and 6 August 2020. 
Customers were able to contact us in Welsh on 
our social media. All online services worked 
well, and I encouraged customers to use them 
when possible (they continue to be the easiest 
and quickest way to discuss with us). 

UK Government Agency 

 

Page 64



 

22 

 

 

Complaint about responding to correspondence  

 

 

 

 

A complaint was presented by a member of the public alleging that he had received 

English correspondence from his local council on two occasions in response to e-mail 

correspondence sent to him in Welsh. The Commissioner decided to investigate the 

complaint because there was a suggestion that the failure was a systemic practice rather 

than a one-off error.  

The investigation confirmed that the correspondence had been sent to the complainant 

by a member of staff during the Covid-19 pandemic while all Council staff were isolating 

and working from home. The Council had already produced a clear guide for staff which 

explained the steps to be taken to respond to Welsh language correspondence. It 

acknowledged that it had responded in English to correspondence received in Welsh 

because a member of staff offered a quick response.  

The investigation has highlighted the importance of raising staff awareness of their 

responsibility to implement any guidance or procedures that have been adopted. It shows 

that business continuity arrangements need to be put in place to ensure that an 

organisation considers the impact of circumstances on the Welsh language during 

challenging times. 

Documents and materials  

3.14 In the majority of cases, organisations noted that the pandemic did not affect their ability 

to produce materials in Welsh – some referred to the importance of translation services, 

Other emergency documents and materials were published in English only, e.g. the 
information/correspondence containing health and safety information published at 
the height of the crisis. The decision was made in the light of a number of 
circumstances: to ensure that relevant health and safety information is available in a 
timely manner; a large number of staff were temporarily redeployed to help with the 
Council's response to the outbreak and therefore limited the Welsh language 
capacity; as well as the new ways of working for staff at such a critical time. Where 
there were no separate versions of Welsh and English documents, it was possible to 
produce/publish separate Welsh and English versions etc. 

Local Authority 

 
 

I have sent e-mails in Welsh to my local council regarding 
council tax direct debit payments – the Council has only 
responded in English. 

Member of the public, May 2020 

 

Page 65



 

23 

 

that were under additional pressures, to achieving what was required. The majority of 

organisations explained that their usual arrangements had remained in place. Some 

noted that there were some cases where urgent statements or materials regarding the 

pandemic were published in English only, or that there was a delay before a Welsh 

version was produced, due to difficulties translating the material quickly enough, as the 

situation was changing quickly or at short notice. 

Complaint about sending correspondence 

 

 

 

 

 

A complaint was made by a member of the public claiming that they had received an 

English only document from the local council with information regarding the Covid-19 

pandemic. The Commissioner decided to investigate as it appeared that a strategic 

decision had been made by the Council not to correspond in Welsh. 

The investigation confirmed that the Council did not have any Welsh speakers in its 

Communications Team at the time and considered that delays would be inevitable if it 

sent correspondence in Welsh. The council acknowledged that they had sent the 

correspondence to the individual in English after making a decision on health and safety 

grounds and a lack of resources during a challenging period. The Commissioner ruled 

that the Council had failed to comply because it had made an intentional decision to 

ignore the requirements of the standard when sending the correspondence about a new 

At the start of lockdown, a letter was 
sent to all residents in English only 
informing them of the Community 
Friend Response Scheme which was 
being established to help vulnerable 
people in the county. This was due to 
the urgency of the letter and people 
joining the service. 

Local Authority 

 

 

Our translation system works effectively 
remotely so there is no language impact 
on documents. An English only 
document happened when a Covid 
outbreak occurred over a weekend and 
we needed to get information to parents 
urgently on our website on a Sunday 
evening, but this was corrected first 
thing on the Monday by our translation 
team (the team does not work on 
weekends). 

Further/Higher Education College 

 

 
 

I received a letter and a leaflet by my local council through my 
letterbox. This included information in English only about the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

A member of the public, April 2020 

 

 

I received a letter and a leaflet by my local council through 

my letterbox. The in include information in English only 

about the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Aelasticity of the public, April 2020 

 

Page 66



 

24 

 

service to support vulnerable residents during the pandemic; time had been spent 

deciding on the content and design and it was the Commissioner’s opinion that the 

Council should have made every effort to ensure that there was also time to create Welsh 

versions. It was noted that he expected to see an effort by the Council to maintain its 

Welsh language services at all times. 

The investigation has highlighted the importance of revising emergency response plans 

and strategies to ensure that consideration is given to the impact of decisions on the 

Welsh language. The importance of establishing a process for prioritising specific types of 

information where the capacity of the translation service has been affected was 

highlighted. It has been shown that consideration needs to be given to how to ensure that 

emergency materials are published at the same time in Welsh and there may be a need to 

consider the capacity of the normal translation service, the arrangements for urgent text 

translation or the Welsh language skills capacity of the workforce more generally. 

 

Websites and online services 

3.15 It was reported by the majority of organisations that the pandemic did not affect their 

ability to provide web pages and online services in Welsh. A few noted that a few pages or 

services had been published in English only, or that there was a delay in publishing the 

Welsh version, due to an inability to obtain a translation quickly enough or to undertake 

development work in parallel.  

3.16 Some organisations referred to new services 

and information introduced online – a few very 

We had to develop a number of online 
forms at short notice. These included a 
business grant application form, a childcare 
booking form, an order form for our Waste 
and Recycling Centres, a click and collect 
order form for Libraries and booking forms 
for Leisure Centre activities. In order to 
produce these within the required 
timescales, a number were initially 
produced in English only. Those still in use, 
such as the Waste and Recycling Centre 
order form and the click and collect order 
form for Libraries, are now available in 
Welsh. Other forms are no longer in use. 

Local Authority 

 

 
 

At the start of the crisis some urgent 
messages were published on the 
website in English first with Welsh 
following once the message was 
translated, sometimes an hour or two 
later. The e-mail sent on March 17 – The 
Welsh Language Commissioner's 
regulatory work during Covid-19 – 
suggested that this was acceptable. Once 
the process was refined, the messages 
were simultaneously made public. As 
more of our services were offered 
digitally, we also realised that there was 
insufficient capacity in our translation 
department which led to a decision to 
appoint an additional translator. 

Further/Higher Education College 

 
 

Page 67



 

25 

 

early during the pandemic either at the same time or shortly after the English language 

service. This included high profile online services that affected a large number of people 

that were developed urgently in response to the pandemic. 

UK Government Department for Work and Pensions: offering new online services 

at short notice 

New services were announced online by the UK Government's Department for Work and 

Pensions during the first few months of the pandemic in 2020. Developments were 

already underway as part of the Department's commitment to improving customer 

satisfaction levels, but the work programme was speeded up at the start of the pandemic.  

The system that enables applications for Pension Credit to be made online was built in 

just 4 weeks to enable the Pension Credit service to go live online in May 2020. It was 

noted by the Department that it was not possible to launch the Welsh language service at 

the same time given the challenging timescales, but it was launched shortly thereafter at 

the end of May 2020 after a period of testing. 

Due to the pandemic other services were focusing their attention on implementing online 

services, including 'Applying for an online NS ESA', 'Applying for a NINO' and 'Repaying 

My Debt'. The Department for Work and Pension’s Welsh Language Unit worked closely 

with the relevant project teams to ensure that Welsh versions of these services were also 

available. 

Covid-19 has had a huge impact on much of the labour market, as some sectors have 

reduced in size and others are increasing rapidly. To help job seekers find work in new 

sectors and employers to find available employees, the Department also launched two 

new external websites: job help and helping employers. These websites offer labour 

market information for people looking for work now and advice for employers to help 

them recruit them. The Welsh Language Unit worked with the Strategic Communications 

Team to ensure that Welsh versions of these websites, as well as all assets, tweets, and 

toolkits, were available and that updates were made promptly. 

A new website was added to GOV.UK to help people find out more about Covid-19 and to 

claim benefits. 'What is Universal Credit?' helps consumers understand what support 

might be available if they are on a low income or unemployed. Again, the Welsh Language 

Unit worked with the team responsible for this website to ensure that a Welsh version 

was also available. 

Later as a result of Covid, a Kickstart scheme was introduced to help 16–24-year-olds 

gain skills to help them get jobs in the future. The Welsh Language Unit supported the 

team responsible for this project to ensure that all products, guidance, information etc. 

was available on the GOV.UK website and that the employer portal/Kickstart Portal to 

apply for the grant, to create work placements, was also available in Welsh. 

Page 68



 

26 

 

It was reported that the Money and Pensions Service (MaPS), which is one of the non-

departmental public bodies supported by the Department for Work and Pensions' Welsh 

Language Unit, also introduced a new website called MoneyHelper, and as a result an 

enormous amount of text needed to be translated during the year, with regular changes 

to current and new content about Covid on its website. 

This practice highlights that it is possible to respond urgently and introduce new 

services online in Welsh and that that can succeed in considering the Welsh 

language from the outset when implementing projects. It also shows that an 

organisation that has established robust self-regulation processes and provides the 

necessary resources, such as the Department for Work and Pensions' Welsh 

Language Unit, was able to overcome difficulties – their Welsh language provision 

was resilient enough not to be adversely affected and they managed to continue to 

comply with their duties during the challenging period. 

 

Complaint about publishing information on the website 

 

 

 

 

 

A complaint was received by a member of the public claiming that information about 

Covid-19 was not available in Welsh on a number of pages and documents of his local 

council's website. The Commissioner decided to investigate the complaint as the council 

had not provided any comment about the circumstances of the complaint and an audit 

confirmed that the organisation had continued to update the website as recently as 

August 2020. It presented a suspicion that the complaint was a symptom of systemic 

practice and that an intentional decision had been taken to show, and to continue to 

show, information in English on the Welsh version of the website. 

The council recognised that the period had been challenging as it needed to re-assign 

responsibilities to its staff because of the pandemic, and that it had a duty to share 

information with the public as soon as possible. It was noted that the council appeared to 

have been overwhelmed by the situation and that it was clear that the translation unit 

was involved in the urgent preparation of information for the website, but that there was 

not sufficient capacity to translate everything due to the size of the task. It was noted that 

the council's senior management team had concluded that it was more important to 

The local council has published a number of pages 
containing information about the COVID-19 pandemic in 
English only on its website. 

Member of the public, June 2020 

 

Page 69



 

27 

 

proceed with placing information in English on the Welsh language website rather than 

waiting for the translation. 

The investigation has highlighted the importance of ensuring that consideration is given 

to the impact of decisions on the Welsh language and revising emergency response plans 

and strategies. It shows that particular consideration should be given to the adequacy of 

translation arrangements to ensure that they are able to cope in periods when workload 

is higher than normal. The importance of establishing a process for prioritising specific 

types of information where the capacity of the translation service has been affected, as in 

a pandemic situation, was highlighted.  The investigation also stresses the value of 

conducting regular audits of a service in order to self-regulate and test compliance and be 

in a position to anticipate and deal better with any difficulties arising from the pandemic. 

New provision 

3.17 A few organisations reported that they had increased their online provision during the 

lockdown period, including developing new application forms and apps, and that this 

new provision was available in Welsh. In a few circumstances Welsh language services 

were delivered after the English services. They ranged from high profile online services 

affecting many individuals to live chat technology that had not been previously used. 

Her Majesty's Courts and Tribunals Service: holding virtual hearings with 

simultaneous translation provision need to place somewhere relevant in the body 

of the department  

In order to ensure that the right to speak Welsh at a Court hearing was maintained when 

they were held virtually, the Service had to review its simultaneous translation 

arrangements. By working with the Welsh Judiciary, it was able to secure this, using a 

Many services and content have been moved 
online over the pandemic, and so there has been 
an increase in demand for online material. More 
videos have been produced, with an emphasis on 
recording Welsh and English versions rather 
than subtitling. The pandemic has moved a few 
projects digitally, such as a project that 
transcribes Welsh archive material. Documents 
will be automatically scanned, and any errors 
corrected, and the project will be responsible for 
increasing the amount of Welsh language 
material available on the web. 

Welsh government sponsored body 

A new online chat service 
was introduced during the 
pandemic, and this is 
available in either English 
or Welsh. The team 
working on the chat 
service is made up of 
Welsh speaking members 
of staff, and Welsh 
enquiries are responded to 
in Welsh. 

Further/Higher Education 
College 

Page 70



 

28 

 

combination of CVP (video cloud platform) and a telephone call on BTMeetMe for the 

translation. Once the process was approved the translators had an opportunity to 

practice using the system and comprehensive instructions published.  

Further improvements were later made to improve the user experience so that the need 

for a separate BT was removed. This involved using a two-room video scenario, similar to 

how simultaneous translation works on Zoom. 

The practice highlights that the organisation succeeded in rapidly delivering new 

online services in Welsh, using technology that was brand new to them at the time. 

It also demonstrates the importance of having a robust self-regulation process that 

can anticipate and deal with difficulties that arise, allowing business continuity 

arrangements to be introduced without delay and allowing the Service to continue 

to comply with its duties.  

3.18 A few organisations however noted that new online services had been developed and that 

there had been barriers to making these available in Welsh.  

 

Welsh Government and UK Government Department for Health and Social Services: 

COVID-19 NHS Testing and Tracking App   

The Covid-19 NHS Testing and Tracking App was published urgently in May 2020 for 

public use in Wales following discussions between the Welsh and UK Government.  The 

Online services have been available in Welsh but there was some difficulty at the 
outset in promoting and accessing a Welsh-medium platform placed on the 
University's website for the clearing and open days. The problem was resolved 
leading to increasing numbers visiting the Welsh version. 

University 

One Surgery under the control of the Health 
Board reports that they use AccuRx to 
communicate with patients via a video link. 
There are many options with this software to 
be able to send information to patients 
immediately through this system in terms of 
providing advice with their state of health, 
but these are not available in Welsh. 

Health Board 

All student recruitment activity 
had to be moved online. Staff 
found it challenging to ensure 
that the presence of the Welsh 
language was evident in, for 
example, a virtual open diary. 
The system used was in English.  

University  

Prifysgol  

 

Page 71



 

29 

 

Welsh Ministers were at the time in the process of agreeing a memorandum of 

understanding about their way of working and the provision of services in Welsh was 

included as an essential element of it. 

When the App was launched it was possible for individuals to access and use it in Welsh 

completely and easily from the outset if the Welsh language was set as the default 

language of their device. 

The Commissioner received a number of complaints about the App as those individuals 

were not aware of the need to set Welsh as the default language on their device or had 

devices that were too old for the App to operate on. As a result, a number of complainants 

had assumed that the service was not available in Welsh. 

Neither the UK Government nor the Welsh Government appeared to have been able to 

raise public awareness sufficiently before launching the App to explain the limitations 

and manage expectations, emphasising that this service would only be fully available in 

Welsh if the device settings allowed it in advance. 

It was also unclear at the time who had responsibility for the provision to the public in 

Wales as the Department for Health and Social Care the UK Government was the 

publisher of the App, but the Welsh Government was working with the department on the 

arrangements in Wales. In November it was confirmed by the Welsh Government that 

they would accept responsibility for Test Trace Protect services. 

The Covid-19 NHS Track and Trace App is an example of a high-profile Welsh 

language service available to the citizens of Wales. It highlights how collaboration 

between the Governments can have a positive impact in terms of the Welsh 

language and how Welsh Ministers' statutory duties under the Welsh language 

standards can influence the provision of services delivered on their behalf by the 

UK Government.  

Social media 

Page 72



 

30 

 

3.19 In the majority of cases, organisations responded that the pandemic had not affected 

their ability to publish messages on social media in Welsh, with a few referring to the 

importance of a flexible translation service, or the availability of Welsh speakers. A few 

organisations noted that some messages had been published in English only, or that there 

were delays in publishing the Welsh version, due to an inability to obtain a translation 

quickly enough. Some organisations referred to increased use of social media for user 

engagement during the pandemic.  

3.20 A few organisations said that social media messages were usually available in Welsh but 

that there were a few situations where this did not happen as it should have. 

Social media correspondence continued 
to be in Welsh and English throughout 
lockdown. The college appointed a new 
Social Media and Digital Marketing Officer 
during this period. The successful 
candidate is a fluent Welsh speaker who 
was able to continue to provide messages 
across social media in Welsh.   

Further/Higher Education College 

Whilst we continue to publish messages in both Welsh and English the pandemic 
has affected our ability to do on-site face to face interviews and video clips...there 
are occasions where some messages has had to be published in English only (as 
these are out of core business hours where no Welsh language translation is 
possible and relate to emergency situations). This content is then updated with 
corresponding Welsh language content as appropriate. In relation to urgent online 
posts, we continue to mitigate the situation by ensuring that a repository of regular 
posts has and is being developed in both languages.   

Police Authority  

Heddlu 

 

Many of the messages on our social 
media have been written bilingually 
by officers within the marketing team 
– all of whom have continued to work 
full time from home through the 
pandemic. Where necessary, the 
translation team is on hand to 
provide support. 

Further/Higher Education College 

Page 73



 

31 

 

3.21 Some organisation noted that the majority of their Covid-19 communications were not 

available in Welsh.  

 

3.22 A few organisations noted that additional pressure on the translation service had led to 

difficulties in publishing and some noted that they had used more social media  to engage 

with the public during the period. 

Translation services  

3.23 The majority of organisations reported that their translation services continued as usual 

during the pandemic, enabling text to be provided in Welsh. It is clear from the responses 

of some organisations that the need to translate large amounts of text urgently placed 

great pressure on translation services, although this did not always affect the provision of 

services for users.  

3.24 The additional pressure led to some organisations developing their translation 

arrangements, for example by appointing additional staff or improving processes, and the 

Welsh Government specifically referred to adapting ways of working and using technical 

solutions to work more efficiently.  

An attempt was made to provide all 
publications in Welsh at the time, but 
due to the urgency of the situation, some 
messages had to be published while the 
translation was underway, with the 
Welsh language being added as soon as 
possible after this. This is no longer the 
case. 

Local Authority 

There was an incident where urgent 
information was published before the 
translation was available. This was due 
to the amount of information that 
needed to be cascaded to the public and 
the short timescales to ensure that up-to-
date information was provided. 

Local Authority 

Communication on social media was in 
English only at [the Centre].  These 
were specific to Covid relating to 
patient information posts and videos 
providing advice.  Most of these videos 
are now subtitled and are available 
online.  

NHS Wales organisation  

Sefydliad GIG Cymru 
 

Most of our messages were published 
on social media in English only, 
mainly because of the need for the 
information to be shared urgently 
and the interpretation of the 
correspondence sent by the 
Commissioner. 

Local Authority 

Page 74



 

32 

 

3.25 A number of organisations noted that they had seen an increase in the translation 

workload. 

Use of Welsh language services 

 

There was an incident where urgent information was published before 
the translation was available. This was due to the amount of 
information that needed to be cascaded to the public and the short 
timescales to ensure that up-to-date information was provided.  

Local Authority 

We are responsible for 
providing written translation 
services to Conwy, 
Denbighshire, Wrexham and 
Flintshire Councils and the 
Welsh Local Government 
Association.  There was a 
fairly quiet period of some of 
the counties for a short time 
in June, but that did not last 
more than a few weeks.  
Overall, the only difference we 
have seen with the written 
translation service, is that we 
are busier than ever during 
most of the pandemic. 

Local Authority 

 

We rely on our externally contracted 
translators to be able to provide timely 
translation for media releases and other 
updates released through the Department 
of Communications and Media. The 
pandemic has created challenges for our 
provider(s) in relation to dealing with 
applications at short notice – and as a result 
some of our updates have been in English 
only with Welsh following a short time later 
as soon as the translation is provided. The 
rapidly evolving nature of the pandemic has 
also required a lot of advice/guidelines/ 
changing rules that are often issued with 
little or no notice. We   have tried to ensure 
that this information is published in both 
Welsh and English, but this has been 
challenging at times. 

Police Authority 

Page 75



 

33 

 

3.26 No consistent pattern was reported in terms of the impact of the pandemic on the extent 

of the use of Welsh language services – a few organisations noted an increase and some 

reported that the impact on the use of Welsh language services was similar to the use of 

English language services or that there was no impact at all. 

 

 

3.27 A few responses suggested that those organisations do not routinely consider the use of 

Welsh language services. 

 

From mid-March to the end of April the Department received over 1.8 
million applications across the UK (55,000 we would expect in a typical 
week). The number of those who had chosen to use Welsh increased from 
just under 1,000 before Covid to over 3,000. Our telephony teams saw a huge 
growth in enquiries and new applications in Both Welsh and English. Our 
robust business continuity plans needed to be put in place to enable the 
Department to do this. 

UK Government Department 

 

 

 

At the height of the pandemic, there was a 
significant increase in the number of 
people wanting advice and guidance from 
our student and customer services teams, 
which in turn put a lot of pressure on our 
telephone lines and mailboxes. The impact 
of that, however, was the same for both 
the Welsh and English language services. 

Further/Higher Education College 

 

 

 

We launched a bilingual campaign in March 2020, which gave people advice on 
how to keep in touch at home during the Coronavirus pandemic. We also had a 
bilingual advertising campaign over a ten-week period on social media and on 
local commercial radio stations in Wales. A study by our external agency showed 
that there was more engagement with Welsh content than English content on 
social media throughout the campaign in Wales, with a high click-through rate of 
0.15%. Our video published in June 2020 attracted over 800 viewers on our 
Welsh Twitter account which has 305 followers – a very encouraging figure 
compared to the English version it received around 1700 viewers over the same 
period although the account has 50.5k followers. 

UK Government sponsored body 

 

 

The closure of the College resulted in 
far fewer enquiries than usual. 
Although the effects appear to be the 
same as for English, the extent of the 
impact on the Welsh language is not 
exactly known. No complaints have 
been received about the College's 
Welsh language service provision and 
overall take-up remains low. 

Further/Higher Education College  

Coleg Addysg Bellach/Uwch 

Page 76



 

34 

 

 

Comprehensive online Welsh language services swiftly introduced by Her Majesty’s 

Revenue and Customs (HMRC)  

Building on their already successful bi-lingual services, several new online services were 

swiftly introduced by HMRC during the pandemic. They include the:   

 Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS)/furlough scheme (for employers) 

 Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) (for the self-employed) 

 Statutory Sick Pay Rebate Scheme (for employers)  

 VAT Deferral Scheme (for businesses)  

 Eat Out to Help Out (for the hospitality businesses)  

The organisation reported that its good knowledge of its customer base and its pre-

pandemic practices, in terms of its use of the Welsh language in their dealings with them, 

was central to the success of prioritising translation work to develop and deliver services 

in Welsh as a matter of urgency. 

Comprehensive web-based guidance and telephone support were provided on the Welsh 

language telephone line that Welsh speaking customers were already familiar with.  

Head of Welsh Language Services in HMRC confirmed: 'We knew that we had at least 

5,000 SEISS customers who could want to use the online service in Welsh as they were 

used to submitting and providing files to us in Welsh online – so, we decided to develop 

this service first and it went live at the same time as the online service in English. 

We also knew that we have around 320 employers that use the Welsh language option 

and tend to contact us by telephone or email. As the online CJRS claim service was set up 

in an unprecedented number of weeks it could not be translated immediately so we 

ensured employers could call us and make their claim in Welsh by telephone instead of 

online. The web-based guidance available in Welsh made it clear customers could use the 

telephone option to make their furlough claim and we sent e-mails explaining the 

situation and the support available in both English and Welsh.’ 

The organisation's Welsh Language Officer worked proactively to ensure liaison with key 

staff responsible for developing and delivering the services from the outset. Through 

regular daily and weekly contact, they ensured Welsh language materials were provided 

at the same time as any English versions. The regular contact ensured that the need for 

Welsh language services to be available at the same time as the English language services 

was met. It was made clear that there were no reasons for failing to overcome difficulties 

and resources and solutions were made easily available to the developers.  

Between April 2020 and March 2021 HMRC: 

 received over 20,000 calls in Welsh 

 received over 1,200 e-mails in Welsh 

Page 77



 

35 

 

 processed and responded to over 5,300 letters and forms in Welsh 

 translated over 2.4 million words into Welsh 

 registered almost 1 million visits and pages of their Welsh language services online 

– double the previous year's visits. 

 delivered paid advertisements and made 1.24 million impressions 

 posted key messages on social media to over 400,000 followers 

 issued fortnightly emails on all the support available to employers and agents 

All services were successfully provided in a period of weeks in Welsh and English, 

compared to the six months or more usually required. A spokesperson for HMRC’s Welsh 

Language service reported that: 

‘Key to all of this delivery has been having a dedicated Welsh language officer and 

allocated Welsh language resources to oversee and work with others across different 

business areas to deliver this service. Despite the challenges of time constraints. The 

officer can facilitate and alleviate any issues as they know their Welsh language customer 

base, they are specialists in that sense. They know how the different elements of Welsh 

language services can be delivered quickly. They work at pace with others to resolve any 

restraints or issues. This person needs to be robust, knowledgeable and thrive on 

adversity. They need to be able to see through issues and work closely and co-operatively 

with many stakeholders to co-ordinate the delivery of the service.’ 

This practice highlights how HMRC responded quickly and how it was able to 

introduce new online services in Welsh during the pandemic by considering the 

language from the outset as well as maintaining its existing Welsh language 

services. It also shows that a body with robust self-regulation processes and a 

designated officer responsible for Welsh language services who can influence 

effectively across the organisation, made it easier to overcome difficulties and 

maintain compliance during a challenging time. 

 

 

  

Page 78



 

36 

 

4 The effect of COVID-19 on organisations’ internal 

arrangements 

4.1 As well as inviting public sector organisations to provide information on the effect of the 

pandemic on their Welsh language services, the Commissioner also asked for their views 

on the effect the pandemic had on any internal arrangements to monitor their compliance 

with their statutory duties. They were asked to report on the resources available to 

undertake the work and the effect of the pandemic on the use of the Welsh language 

within the workplace and the qualitative evidence received is helpful in considering the 

adequacy of organisations' self-regulation processes and their ability to deal with 

difficulties that arose during the challenging period of the pandemic. 

Overseeing compliance  

Governance arrangements 

4.2 Organisations reported that they had ensured Welsh language provision was considered 

as part of the organisation’s general arrangements for business continuity during the 

pandemic. Some organisations noted that their corporate business continuity plan 

included or had considered Welsh language provision. A few noted that they had adopted 

a specific business continuity plan for the Welsh language. 

The Council’s continued compliance with the 
Welsh language standards has remained an 
integral part of any consideration in all of 
the Council’s business continuity and 
contingency plans. 

Welsh government sponsored body 

The Welsh language was part of our 
governance arrangements during the 
pandemic, and it continues to be 
considered throughout our processes 
though impact assessments. Some 
practical changes were made, for 
example reviewing our translation 
processes to deal with the significant 
demand in some areas. 

University 

Our quarterly Covid response 
plans were subject to an 
equalities impact assessment 
which included consideration 
of the Welsh Language … they 
were approved by the Boards’ 
Operational Committee.  

Health Board 

We had arranged with our 
translators that a manager from the 
agency be available out of office 
hours if urgent translation or proof 
reading was required.  

UK Government sponsored body 

Page 79



 

37 

 

4.3 The majority of organisations noted that they had not adopted any special governance 

arrangements to ensure that Welsh language provision was considered during the 

pandemic. Some noted that this was because they were confident that the arrangements 

that were already in place were sufficiently robust and that they had continued to operate 

on that basis.  

Officer with responsibility for the Welsh language resource  

4.4 The majority of the organisations that responded to the survey stated that there had not 

been an effect on the resources available on a day-to-day basis for the work relating to 

the Welsh language. A few noted that there were some changes to working practices, or 

that workloads were heavier or more complex than usual. Despite this, some 

organisations noted that they had moved their Welsh language officers to other roles for 

a period.  

We did not operate any special 
arrangements during the pandemic, 
it was business as usual, with the 
requirements relating to the Welsh 
language considered as they were 
prior to Covid. Support was 
provided to all parts of the business 
to ensure they could comply with 
our language scheme, with the team 
working closely with co-workers in 
other directorates. 

UK Government department 

As the Welsh language is already 
established as our delivery and 
administrative language, and we 
have such a high percentage of staff 
who have Welsh skills, the 
continuation of Welsh services was 
not a concern. Welsh language 
officers’ roles were not changed, and 
their support continued. 

Local Authority 

The Council has not operated under any special 
arrangements to ensure consideration of the 
Welsh language. Rather, we operated the 
arrangements already in place such as 
procurement checklists, impact assessments, 
mainstreaming the Welsh language in policy 
developments and ensuring the availability of 
Welsh speaking staff through recruitment and 
training.  

Local Authority 

 

Page 80



 

38 

 

Planning and monitoring  

4.5 A few organisations had reviewed their usual operational plans for the Welsh language 

and adapted them to enable operation in the pandemic. 

4.6 Some organisations reported that they had developed additional arrangements to 

monitor compliance, and others had continued with arrangements already established 

such as: 

 review of customer service arrangements to ensure compliance. 

 ensuring that the way they arranged the workforce ensured the continuity of the 

Welsh language provision. 

 communicating with staff regarding the need to continue to comply during the 

pandemic. 

 ensuring that translation services were available, including outside usual office hours. 

 arrangements to ensure that any new services developed were delivered in Welsh. 

 

 

Welsh language officers within 
services were diverted onto Covid-19 
work to support schools, the most 
vulnerable and TTP.  

Local authority 

 

 

 

Welsh language officers within 

services were diverted onto Covid-19 

work to support schools, the most 

vulnerable and TTP.  

Awdurdod Lleol 

 

 

The officer was redeployed for nearly 
four months at an operational level to 
the Council’s Safe and Well Service.  

Local authority 

 

 

 

The officer was redeployed for nearly 

four months at an operational level to 

the Council’s Safe and Well Service.  

Awdurdod Lleol 

 

 

The professional lead for Welsh 
was redeployed to support critical 
services from March until 
September.  

Local authority 

 

 

 

The professional lead for Welsh 

was redeployed to support critical 

services from March until 

September.  

Awdurdod Lleol 

 

 

Additional responsibilities were taken to 
respond to the Covid-19 pandemic and 
therefore there was not the same 
capacity to devote to the Welsh language. 

Local authority 

 

 

 

Additional responsibilities were taken to 

respond to the Covid-19 pandemic and 

therefore there was not the same 

capacity to devote to Welsh Language. 

Awdurdod Lleol 

 

 

Our Welsh language operational plan was updated in 
April because of the pandemic and reviewed again in 
July. This reflected the fact that the nature of much of 
our provision changed to be digital. 

Welsh Government sponsored body 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

39 

 

4.7 Most organisations noted that there was no effect on their arrangements for monitoring 

compliance, but some did acknowledge that the task was harder than usual, primarily 

because it was not possible to discuss with staff in the same way, or to check provision at 

their locations.  

A special meeting of the Police’s  
working group for implementing the 
Welsh language  was held to ensure 
that the work to deliver bilingual 
services continued to receive attention. 
Otherwise, it was ‘business as usual’ in 
terms of Welsh language services, with 
the expectation that language choice 
was delivered as usual. 

Police Force 

 

 

 
We completed a ‘mystery shopper’ 
exercise to ensure that there was no 
impact to the quality of our Welsh 
services; including answering 
correspondence, dealing with forms 
and the telephone service. We gained a 
high level of assurance from the 
services sampled. 

Welsh Government sponsored body 

 

 

Our Compliance Officer was 
completing ad hoc audits of our 
social media to ensure that the 
Welsh language continued to be 
evident. 

Local Authority 

 

 

 

It was possible to complete most of 
the monitoring processes by 
sampling from afar. Adaptations 
were made to the timetable of 
random checks with the online 
services checked during the 
strictest restrictions and then 
random checks of more visual and 
physical elements when rules were 
relaxed.  

Further/Higher education college 

 

It has been harder to monitor compliance as each Officer is 
working from home. There has been a significant reduction 
in face-to-face services. However, during the period, we have 
reminded Officers of their duties, by publishing Standards 
Guidance: ‘What do I need to do’ and have shared this 
through the Corporate News bulletin. We have also held two 
language awareness sessions online. Before the end of the 
year, we will ask each department to self-assess their 
services against the requirements of the standards.  

Local Authority 

 

Page 82



 

40 

 

4.8 A few organisations noted that they had put additional measures in place, or that the 

monitoring work was more effective by the Autumn than previously.  

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs: anticipating difficulties and putting business 

continuity arrangements in place to maintain compliance during the pandemic 

‘Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) had planned thoroughly in advance and 

started preparing business recovery plans for the translation team two weeks before the 

lockdown was announced. Every member of the team was equipped to conduct business 

as usual from home and any new working methods were piloted. All of the team worked 

successfully and completely from home from the first day of lockdown. 

The team providing support to Welsh customers was part of the initial trial to get 

everyone to work from home safely. This ensured that our Welsh language services were 

not affected or restricted by limited access to the office. Our customer service was 

maintained for Welsh speaking customers from day one and throughout the pandemic. 

‘We identified one gap, namely our ability to issue manual repayments where specialist 

printing was required for cheques and needed to be in the office to do this. We worked 

quickly with finance colleagues to come up with a new process and customer contact that 

led them towards a digital option for refunds directly to customer accounts.’ 

This practice highlights the importance of placing robust business continuity 

arrangements in place for Welsh language services. This ensures that the impact of 

There was an impact on monitoring compliance 
during the period. As the Welsh language team was 
working from home it wasn’t possible to visit the 
health board's sites and hospitals which forms a 
large part of the monitoring work. The Welsh 
language team conducts quarterly mystery shopper 
surveys that involve visiting three community 
hospitals, three surgeries under the control of the 
health board and three departments within the 
acute hospitals. It hasn’t been possible to undertake 
these surveys. In addition, four members of the 
team were redeployed to provide support in 
another health board department. As a large 
number of other health service staff were in the 
same position, working from home and redeployed 
or re-trained to do other duties, it took longer to 
respond to e-mails. 

Health Board 

 

A negative answer was given 
as it is hard to keep an 
overview of compliance in a 
large and complex 
organisation in a period of 
significant change and when 
everyone is scattered. 
Remote working does not 
make it impossible to 
monitor compliance but as 
things settle to a more 
regular pattern, we need to 
think how we can ensure 
that the required level of 
monitoring is maintained. 

University 

 

Page 83



 

41 

 

any circumstances on the Welsh language are considered, and that action is taken 

to maintain compliance during challenging times. 

4.9 The Commissioner received some enquiries from organisations indicating that they 

would be unlikely to publish the Welsh language standards annual report by the required 

day, but none indicated that they would be unable to publish at all. Compared to 2018-19, 

there has been a deterioration in the performance of organisations in every set of 

regulations in terms of publishing their Welsh language standards annual report. 

Evidence from the Commissioner's survey of the supplementary standards during 

autumn 2020 confirms that 71% of the organisations required to publish a report had 

done so on time, in Welsh, and had dealt with how they complied during 2019-20. 

Dealing with complaints  

4.10 Very few comments were received from organisations that responded to the 

Commissioner’s survey in relation to the impact of the pandemic on their complaints 

handling arrangements. No comments suggested that an organisation had received a 

significant number of complaints about their provision or had difficulty in dealing with 

them. 

4.11 The majority of organisations either stated that they had continued to deal with 

complaints in the usual way or that there had been no impact whatsoever on their 

arrangements, or that no relevant complaints had been received during the period. A few 

organisations noted that there was some impact from changing working arrangements. 

Policy decisions and promotion of the Welsh language 

4.12 Although a few organisations adapted their arrangements for general policy decisions, 

the majority did not report that their duty to consider the impact of policy decisions on 

the Welsh language was adversely affected by the pandemic. A few organisations referred 

to improvements made during the period to the processes to consider the impact of 

decisions on the Welsh language and some confirmed that they considered the Welsh 

language within the organisation's usual equality impact assessment process. 

4.13 The majority of organisations noted that there had been no change, with some detailing 

the processes that continued in the same way. 

Working from home raised a number of issues in terms of contact internally 
with staff.  A number of employees were also seconded to other business 
areas that provide front line services. Additional duties, IT issues and various 
competitive demand on staff meant that responses [to complaints] were less 
prompt. Staff working from home made it more difficult to have a chat /catch-
up, something that would have happened in the office. 

Local Authority 

Page 84



 

42 

 

 Arrangements affected 

4.14 A few organisations noted that the pandemic had made them adapt their 

arrangements to consider policy decisions in general, so the impact on the Welsh 

language was the same as on other matters. 

No policy decisions 
were made, and the 
publication of the 
Welsh Language 
Standards Annual 
Report was delayed due 
to COVID19 as 
committees were 
suspended. 

Local Authority 

The impact of policy decisions 
on the Welsh language 
continues to be administered 
using the Council's existing 
processes and resources. No 
new procedures are in place as 
a result of the Covid pandemic. 

Local Authority 

An equality impact assessment is in place which 

includes the impact that the policy decision can 

have on the Welsh language.  Staff have continued 

to make these assessments for any policy or 

project decision.  To date no assessment has 

highlighted that the intended work has a negative 

impact on the Welsh language. 

Welsh Government sponsored body 

We have arrangements in place to ensure that any business projects or 
requests for change consider whether there is an impact on the Welsh 
language service. This process has continued during the pandemic period 
and our activities to explore how we can continue to improve the Welsh 
language service have continued throughout the period. 

UK Government Department 

During the pandemic period, as a result of 
the speed with which decisions were being 
made, new policies/legislation formulated 
did not always allow full, integrated 
assessments to be conducted. However, a 
steady flow of communication was shared 
with staff reminding them of their statutory 
duties to consider the effects of decision 
making and they were given new guidance 
on taking proportionate and reasonable 
steps to ensure that any decisions took 
account of impacts on the Welsh language. 

Welsh Government 

Page 85



 

43 

 

 Impact assessment arrangements developments 

4.15 A few organisations reported that they had developed their processes for considering the 

impact of policy decisions during the period. 

The organisation has been placed in 
formal crisis response mode, which 
means that new decision-making 
arrangements have been put in place to 
deal with the pressure to respond 
rapidly to changing circumstances. This 
has meant that the evidence trail to 
support decisions may not be as robust 
as it might normally have been. 

Local Authority 

The Council's current policy is to use 
an integrated impact assessment tool 
to consider the impact of policy 
decisions on the Welsh language. 
During lockdown, fewer policy 
decisions have been introduced in 
Cabinet, this because services have to 
diversify in order to be able to deal 
with and try to manage the current 
pandemic. 

Local Authority 

During the pandemic, the 
policy impact assessment 
process has been updated 
and now the Welsh language 
officer views all assessed 
policy decisions for 
comment. 

Local Authority 

We routinely consider the equality and diversity 
implications of any new policy or initiative, and 
do not believe that any policy decisions 
undertaken during this time had a negative effect 
on the opportunities to use the Welsh language. 
As a result of the Welsh Language Commissioner’s 
recent consultation on the Welsh Language 
Standards, we took the decision to consider 
whether our Equality Impact Assessment could be 
made clearer to draw out specifically whether the 
new policy would affect opportunities for people 
to use the Welsh language and on treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the 
English language. 

Health Profession Regulatory Council  

 

 

A number of policies had to be adapted because of Covid that has provided a 
further opportunity to look again at the impact of policy decisions on the Welsh 
language.  A new corporate process has been introduced for approving policies 
which provides an opportunity to use the latest advice from the Good Practice 
Document on Policy Making. 

Further/Higher Education College 

Page 86



 

44 

 

4.16 One health board noted that the pandemic had prevented a piece of work to improve the 

consideration of the Welsh language in policy decisions across health organisations. 

4.17 A few other organisations noted that the pandemic had motivated them to take better 

account of the Welsh language in decisions. 

Recruiting a workforce with Welsh language skills  

4.18 The majority of organisations noted that there was no impact on their assessment of the 

need for Welsh language skills when recruiting. In a few cases, organisations reported 

that they had introduced improvements to their assessment processes during the period. 

A further 59 organisations noted that there had been no change and 3 organisations 

There was a period over April and May where democratic Council meetings were 
not being held, so the responsibility for decisions was delegated to the Chief 
Executive. Gold and Silver Committees have been established to lead on those 
decisions.  

This period has allowed us to complete the development of an Integrated Impact 
Assessment, with specific questions regarding the impact of decisions on the 
Welsh language. There is a link in the guidance for Heads of Service and 
Managers to the Welsh Language Commissioner's document 'Policy Making 
Standards: Creating opportunities to use the Welsh language and not treating the 
Welsh language less favourably than the English language' 

Local Authority 

Work on an all-Wales Equality 
Impact Assessment process 
including a Welsh Language impact 
assessment has been delayed. This 
is needed to improve assessment of 
the effect of policy decisions on the 
Welsh Language. 

Health Board 

 

 

 

Work on an all Wales Equality 

Impact Assessment including a 

Welsh Language impact assessment 

has been delayed. This is needed to 

improve the assessment of the 

effect that policy decisions have on 

the Welsh Language. 

Bwrdd Iechyd 

 

Several departments reported that the pandemic had given them the opportunity 
to look at areas afresh. The reopening was an example of this, as procedures in 
place for decades had to be significantly modified, with the Welsh language being 
a central consideration on this occasion. 

Welsh Government sponsored body 

The heightened interest in the 
disadvantage created by Covid-19 lead to 
a desire to extend provision of services 
through both languages – for example 
Zendesk used as an operational 
innovation to improve the impact of a 
policy decision. 

Welsh Government sponsored body 

Page 87



 

45 

 

confirmed that they had not undertaken assessments of the need for Welsh language 

skills when recruiting during the period. 

 

4.19 A few organisations, including three health boards, reported that they had developed 

their recruitment arrangements during the period. 

For the new and vacant posts considered during lockdown, 
normal HR procedures were followed in terms of considering 
Welsh language skills. 

Local authority 

No impact was seen as robust 
arrangements had been put in place to 
ensure that key staff within the HR 
teams were able to work remotely – 
ensuring that routine arrangements 
were followed. 

Welsh government sponsored body 

Language assessments were 
not carried out due to the crisis 
of the situation. Additional 
skilled staff were needed and 
language was not a factor in 
this.  

NHS Wales body 

Work on the Language Designations project has 
been able to continue during lockdown and a 
new system put in place to monitor and a 
number of positive steps have been taken 
within the period. 

Local authority 

The recruitment rate has slowed 
considerably during lockdown. 
However, we have undertaken 
specific campaigns to recruit to 
specific sectors e.g., carers and 
cleaners. All of those posts have been 
placed at level 3 in terms of Welsh 
language skills in advertising. In 
terms of the 521 posts advertised 
since April 2020 until early October, 
394 of the successful candidates held 
higher skills in Welsh than the level at 
which the post was advertised. This 
suggests to us that there has been a 
positive response to the posts from 
Welsh speakers in the local 
community. 

Local authority 

New procedural guidance was 
introduced in April 2020 to meet the 
requirements of the Welsh Language 
Standards so there has been a positive 
impact throughout the Covid 
pandemic. 

Health Board 

Page 88



 

46 

 

4.20 However, the body responsible for health sector recruitment nationally reported that the 

pandemic has delayed a strategic recruitment project because there has been and 

continues to be a high demand on job creation to respond to the crisis and that has put 

huge pressure on their Workforce and Development teams. 

Developing Welsh language skills 

4.21 The impact of the pandemic on organisations' Welsh language learning provision varied. 

If lessons had continued, it was mostly online, sometimes after a period of delay. The 

provision of a few organisations (particularly those with smaller numbers of learners) 

had ceased altogether. 

4.22 Although there were a few references to difficulties, a number of organisations noted that 

the online lessons had worked well. Some organisations reported that they had seen an 

increase in staff accessing the provision, with several suggestions that online learning 

was suiting more people better; a few organisations, on the other hand, had seen a 

reduction in their numbers. 

4.23 It was reported by some of organisations that they had established new or additional 

provision for learning Welsh, for example Say Something in Welsh, during the period, and 

that the response was positive. 

We’re always aware of the need to recruit Welsh speakers and that has been no 
different during the COVID pandemic. Due to the need to recruit 13,500 
employees across the UK to support the increase in benefit applications, we 
have again made specific job vacancies campaigns for bilingual 
(Welsh/English) work coaches. The approach to recruitment has changed, due 
to the increasing number of staff required. A micro-website for work coaches 
was launched to support the recruitment campaigns, which provided all the 
information that applicants needed for them to consider applying for the posts, 
including the roles and responsibilities of a work coach post, background 
information on the Department for work and pensions, frequently asked 
questions, list of vacancies by region, application process. Our Welsh Language 
Unit collaborated with staff in the People and Ability and SSCL teams to 
produce a Welsh version of this website. 

UK Government Department  

We recognise that we need to re-start the strategic work by reviewing and 
recreating a Bilingual Skills Strategy for the organisation, creating an 
information portal on the Workforce and Organisation Development 
intranet pages, and developing a specific training module for managers to 
recruit either online or in class, for them to be aware of what is expected as 
we assess Welsh language skills for vacancies. 

NHS Wales organisation  

Sefydliad GIG Cymru  

 

 

Page 89



 

47 

 

The National Centre for Learning Welsh: innovation to offer more opportunities to 

develop the Welsh language skills of the workforce  

The National Centre for Learning Welsh responded to the challenging circumstances 

presented by the pandemic to enable learners to continue to develop Welsh language 

skills in their workplaces. In March 2020, as face-to-face learning was forced to stop, a 

significant reduction in funding and a developing public health situation the Centre 

started adapting its Working Welsh programme, that provides support to develop Welsh 

language skills in the workplace.  

In October 2020 a self-studying Learn Welsh course was published online for the first 

time, offering learners the ability to follow a course at an entire level at a time convenient 

to them. This first course was at Entry level, the aim being to continue to develop a 

similar course at the other levels over the coming year.  

The development responded to the growing demand for flexible approaches to learning 

and the emphasis from the very beginning has been on the use of the Welsh language in 

the workplace. Although the course is a self-studying one, a tutor also offers support, 

giving advice and help, virtual chat and question and answer sessions.  

By the end of March 2021 over 800 individuals from over 60 employers, had registered to 

study the new course – the majority of them working for public sector organisations.  

The Centre reported that more employers than ever engaged with them during 2020-21. 

The course has appealed greatly, especially to employers such as the health boards, who 

previously found it difficult to offer provision where staff had to attend weekly lessons at 

a set time in the workplace.  The ability to follow a course at a time convenient to the 

learner means that the course is popular with people working a shift – traditionally a 

hard-to-reach cohort in terms of course delivery.  

By March 2021 the Working Welsh budget had been restored to the previous level and 

the National Centre for Learning Welsh can again offer a wide range of courses to 

employers, continuing to innovate and offer a range of learning methods as the Working 

Welsh scheme is developed.  

Internal use of the Welsh language 

Informal conversations 

4.24 There were differences of opinion with regards to the effect the pandemic had on 

opportunities to conduct informal discussions and on provision to develop Welsh 

language skills – some reported that a move to working from home had reduced the 

opportunities for people to speak Welsh with each other in informal settings at work, and 

that this had particularly affected those staff that depended on these opportunities to 

improve their confidence.  

Page 90



 

48 

 

4.25 Some organisations noted that previous patterns had continued with conversations and 

meetings online. Some organisations noted that they had arranged new opportunities 

online for staff to use the Welsh language informally or socially. 

Internal meetings 

4.26 The majority of organisations noted that there was no effect on the language of internal 

meetings, or that previous patterns had continued. (In general, our conclusion prior to 

the pandemic was that English is the language used predominately in internal meetings in 

the majority of organisations). 

4.27 A few organisations noted that the inability to use simultaneous translation on platforms 

such as Teams was a barrier to using Welsh in internal meetings. A few organisations 

noted they had ensured that staff could take part in Welsh during internal meetings. 

Drafting and written work  

4.28 The majority of organisations noted that the pandemic did not have an impact on the way 

that staff drafted text. A few organisations referred to the help and support available for 

staff to draft in Welsh, including mentoring and proofreading, and a few noted that the 

situation of the pandemic had led to an increase in their staff drafting in Welsh, partly due 

to the pressure on translation services. 

  

Page 91



 

49 

 

Appendix 1: Evidence base 

1. Although gathering evidence on the impact of Covid-19 on the provision of Welsh language 

services has been more challenging during 2020-21 due to the circumstances of pandemic 

the Commissioner has been able to rely on information from the following sources:  

 evidence of the experiences of members of the public who submitted complaints to the 

Commissioner 

 findings of the annual Welsh Speakers Omnibus Survey 

 the findings of the Covid-19 thematic survey undertaken in September 2020 to gather 

evidence from organisations on the impact of the pandemic 

 regular discussions during the year between the Commissioner's officers and the public 

organisations that have a statutory duty to provide services to people in Wales when 

dealing with enquiries or issues relating to their compliance 

 a survey carried out to check organisations' compliance with the supplementary 

standards. 

Welsh Speakers Omnibus Survey 

2. For several years the Commission has been commissioning Beaufort Research to undertake 

work to gather information on Welsh speakers' attitudes to and experiences of using the 

services provided by public organisations. Due to the pandemic the survey methodology 

was slightly different during 2020-21 from the methodology in previous years.  

3. The sample was usually designed to be representative of Welsh speakers aged 16 and over 

in Wales by looking at a proportion who can speak Welsh within the 22 Local Authorities in 

Wales. The COVID-19 public health pandemic prevented the survey from being conducted 

in its usual face-to-face interviewing at sample points across Wales and instead conducted 

online interviews using an online panel exchange platform. The online survey was formed 

for completion on a PC/tablet and smartphone and all respondents were offered Welsh and 

English versions. An opening question is asked (Do you speak Welsh?) to ensure that the 

respondent speaks Welsh and is therefore eligible to be interviewed. Fieldwork for the 

survey was undertaken during November-December 2020. A total of 424 interviews were 

completed and analysed. 

Thematic study of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic  

4. 224 public organisations operating Welsh language standards or Welsh language schemes 

were invited to take part in a review by the Commissioner in September 2020 about the 

impact of the pandemic on their:  

 Welsh language services 

 Compliance arrangements 

 Internal use of the Welsh language.  

Page 92



 

50 

 

5. It was noted that the review was not intended to enable the Commissioner to reach a view 

on organisations' compliance but rather to:  

 Learn the impact of the pandemic on the experiences of users and staff  

 Understand the robustness and rooting of organisations' arrangements for complying 

and considering the Welsh language  

 Identify barriers to the continuation of Welsh language provision, at an individual 

organisation level or systemically  

 Identify examples of innovation and good practice that organisations have implemented 

in order to safeguard Welsh language provision.  

6. 121 (54%) of the questionnaire organisations – 90 of them (75%) implement the duties of 

Welsh language standards and the remainder implement Welsh language schemes. A copy 

of the questionnaire is at Appendix 2 and a list of the organisations that contributed is at 

Appendix 3. 

7. We received evidence from a wide range of organisations from each of the sectors 

operating the different Welsh language standards regulations (numbers 1 to 7). The 

evidence therefore provides a picture of the impact of the pandemic on the provision of 

Welsh language services across the spectrum of public organisations. 

  

Page 93



 

51 

 

Appendix 2: Impact of Covid-19 on organisations’ Welsh 

language provision survey questions 

Welsh language services 

1. Impact on specific Welsh language services 

Give your opinion on the pandemic’s impact on the Welsh language services stated, and the 

reasons for the impact. When considering whether any effect was positive or negative 

compared with the English equivalent, you can consider: 

 

 Was the service available at all / less often?  

 Was the service available as timely as usual or were there delays?  

 Was the service as accurate / of as high a standard as usual?  

 Was the service as prominent and accessible, and promoted as well as usual?  

 

To what extent did the crisis affect the use of Welsh language services?  

What were the reasons for the impact? 

Services: Reception, Phone, Correspondence, Meetings with individuals, Meetings with 

multiple persons / open to the public, Documents and other materials including press 

statements, Websites and online services, social media  

Options: Positive effect compared with the English language service; No effect at all; Similar 

effect to that on the English language service; Negative effect compared with the English 

language service; Not applicable; Don’t know 

 

2. Impact on use of Welsh language services by the public 

To what extent did the crisis affect the use of Welsh language services by the public?  

Options: Positive effect compared with the English language service; No effect at all; Similar 

effect to that on the English language service; Negative effect compared with the English 

language service; Not applicable; Don’t know 

What were the reasons for the impact?  

 

3. Technical solutions 

Have you developed or implemented any new technical solutions as a result of lockdown, to 

facilitate the organisation’s contact with the public? 

Options: Yes, No 

How have these solutions affected the ability to the Welsh language?  

Options: Facilitated the use of Welsh; No effect; Prevented the use of Welsh 

What were the reasons for the impact?  

 

Compliance arrangements 

4. Developments – governance and the Welsh language  

Page 94



 

52 

 

Did you implement specific arrangements during the crisis in order to ensure that the 

Welsh language was considered, and the Welsh language provision continued, for example 

through a business continuation plan / varying responsibilities / changing procedures?  

Options: Yes, No 

 

5. Impact on compliance arrangements and resources 

Give your opinion on the crisis’s impact on the arrangements and resources stated, and the 

reasons for the impact. When considering the impact, and whether it was positive or 

negative, you can consider:  

 

 Was the same level of resource available?  

 Was the same level of expertise available?  

 Did the work happen as timely a way as usual or were there delays?  

 Was the work as accurate / of as high a standard as usual?  

 

To what extent did the crisis affect these arrangements and resources?  

What were the reasons for the impact? 

 

Arrangements and resources: Welsh language officers; Overseeing compliance; Dealing 

with complaints; Translation services; Considering the effect of policy decisions on the 

Welsh language; Assessing the need for Welsh language skills for new and vacant posts. 

Options: Positive effect; No effect / Changes with a neutral effect; Negative effect; Not 

applicable; Don’t know 

 

Internal use of the Welsh language 

6. Impact on internal use of the Welsh language  

To what extent did the crisis affect the use of Welsh by the organisation’s staff in these 

situations?  

Situations: Informal conversations; Internal meetings; Drafting and written work, e.g., 

documents, forms, correspondence; Developing Welsh language skills, e.g. Welsh language 

lessons 

Positive effect; No effect / Changes with a neutral effect; Negative effect; Not applicable; 

Don’t know 

Give details of the impact, including specific examples where possible. What were the 

reasons for the impact?  

Other 

7. Other developments and impacts  

Are there any other developments or impacts that you have seen as a result of the crisis? 

 

Page 95



 

53 

 

Appendix 3: Public organisations that contributed to the 

Covid-19 impact survey 

ACAS 

Aneurin Bevan UHB 

Animal and Plant Health Agency 

Bangor University 

BBC 

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB 

Blaenau Gwent CBC 

Books Council of Wales 

Bridgend CBC 

Bridgend College 

British Council 

British Transport Police 

Cabinet Office 

Caerphilly CBC 

Cambrian Training 

Carbon Trust 

Cardiff and Vale College 

Cardiff and Vale UHB 

Cardiff Council 

Ceredigion County Council 

Coleg Cambria 

Coleg Gwent 

Coleg Sir Gâr and Coleg Ceredigion 

Coleg y Cymoedd 

Companies House 

Conwy CBC 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB 

Data Cymru 

Denbighshire County Council 

Department for Education 

Department for Work and Pensions 

DVLA 

Dyfed-Powys Police and Crime 

Commissioner 

Education Workforce Council 

Equality and Human Rights Commission 

Estyn 

Flintshire County Council 

General Medical Council 

Glyndŵr University 

Grŵp Cynefin 

Grŵp Llandrillo Menai 

Gwent Police 

Gwynedd Council 

Hafren Dyfrdwy 

Higher Education Funding Council for Wales 

HM Courts and Tribunals Service 

HM Inspectorate of Probation 

HM Revenue and Customs 

Hywel Dda CHC 

Hywel Dda UHB 

ICO 

Independent Office for Police Conduct 

Informatics Service 

Isle of Anglesey County Council 

Judicial Appointments Commission 

Law Commission 

Learning and Work Institute 

Legal Aid Agency 

Monmouthshire County Council 

National Museum Wales  

National Savings and Investments 

Natural Resources Wales 

Newport City Council 

NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership 

North Wales Fire and Rescue Service 

North Wales Police 

NPT Group of Colleges 

Ofcom 

Office for National Statistics 

Office of the Public Guardian 

Office of the Secretary of State for Wales 

Older People's Commissioner for Wales 

Parole Board 

Pembrokeshire College 

Pembrokeshire County Council 

Powys CHC 

Powys Teaching Health Board 

Page 96



 

54 

 

Public Health Wales 

Royal Commission on the Ancient and 

Historical Monuments of Wales 

Rhondda Cynon Taff CBC 

S4C 

Snowdonia National Park Authority 

South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 

South Wales Police 

South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 

Sport Wales 

Student Finance Wales 

Swansea Bay UHB 

Swansea University 

Torfaen CBC 

The College Merthyr 

The Consumer Council for Water 

The General Osteopathic Council 

The Health and Care Professions Council 

The National Botanic Garden of Wales 

The National Library of Wales  

The National Lottery Community Fund 

The Nursing and Midwifery Council 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for 

Gwent 

The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher 

Education  

University of South Wales 

UWTSD 

Vale of Glamorgan Council 

Valuation Office Agency 

Velindre University NHS Trust 

Wales Millennium Centre 

WCVA 

Welsh Ambulance Service NHS Trust 

Welsh Government 

Welsh National Opera 

Welsh Water 

 
  

Page 97



 

55 

 

Appendix 4: Glossary  

The following glossary is used in the report to refer to the number or proportion of 

organisation that provided evidence on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on their Welsh 

language provision, as part of the Commissioner's survey: 

a few = between 1 and 12 organisations (up to 10%)  

some = between 13-60 organisations (10-50%)  

majority = between 61-80 organisations (50-70%)  

many = 81 or more organisations (over 70%) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

56 

 

 

 

Market Chambers 

5-7 St Mary’s Street 

Cardiff 

CF10 1AT 

0345 6033 221 

post@welshlanguagecommissioner.wales 

@ComyGymraeg 

welshlanguagecommissioner.wales 

Page 99



 

1 

 

 

Page 100



 

COMMITTEE  Language Committee 

DATE  19/10/ 2021  

SUBJECT  Welsh Placenames Project 

PURPOSE  To submit a report by the Project Officer giving an update on the work of 
the new project to Members.  
  

RECOMMENDATION  Members are asked to accept the report and make any relevant 
observations.   
 

 

  
BACKGROUND  
 

1. In April 2018, a draft report was submitted to the Language Committee, outlining the 
Council's responsibilities and powers regarding place naming.  

 

2. The report was the result of research undertaken, in response to concerns by Committee 
members at the time, regarding the Anglicization of names or the coining of new names for 
geographical features and houses. 

 

3. A draft policy document had already been drawn up by the Council addressing house and 
street names, but there was a desire to look at the wider issues, and to consider how we 
could also set out principles for the way the Council uses and protects names for villages and 
geographical features. The report therefore sought to provide a picture of the current 
situation and the responsibilities and powers the Council had to take action in this context.    

 
4. Many valuable suggestions were made in the report about actions that could be taken, and 

the Language Committee itself provided the following recommendation when receiving the 
report:  

 
"To agree to continue to work on the main purpose of the report, to gain clarity, especially 
on the naming of geographic features and how we could influence the names used by 
external bodies such as the Royal Mail and the Ordnance Survey, and report back to the 
Committee on any developments."  

 

 
5. As a result of the area of work also being identified as a priority in the Council Plan - the 

Improvement Plan for 2021/22 includes a Native Welsh Place Names Project under 
Improvement Priority 5, with the explanatory note that "we are concerned that native 
Welsh place names are disappearing from the landscape of Gwynedd as a result of a lack 
of use of Welsh names and an increase in renaming places in English" - we have also 
managed to secure funding to work specifically on the project and a Project Officer was 
appointed and started working in September 2021.  

  
6. The contents of the 2018 report and the recommendation of the Language Committee is 

now the foundation for the work of the Place Names Project Team, and the report being 
submitted provides an outline of the direction of the work as it stands. 
  

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



Protecting the Tapestry 

Place, house and street names - the current situation  

Meirion MacIntyre Huws - Project Officer, Protection of Welsh Placenames Project 
October 2021 

 
 

1. Background 
 
Every good journalist knows that two specific topics will certainly attract the response of the public: 
health and education. In Wales, the 'Welsh language' could be added to these. Not a day goes by on 
social media where a comment isn’t made about changing house names, poor signs and a general 
lack of respect towards the Welsh language. There have been arguments between people, 
organisations and public bodies. Changing house names has been, and remains, a contentious issue 
and there is an increasing requirement on Gwynedd Council to address the problem. 
 
The report submitted to the Committee in 2018 acknowledged that it was unclear who did what 
within the authority, and how much consultation was being undertaken on names at the time. There 
was no clarity either about which procedure existed to address the matter within the current 
statutory rights and legislation. This was not a shortcoming on behalf of the authority, as such, but a 
situation that was a result of changes that had occurred in legislation, jobs and policies over the 
years, with no central point to gather everything together. 
 

2. The challenges 
 
Persuading 

The Place Names Project Team recognises that it will not be an easy task to persuade every 

individual who lives in Gwynedd, or every individual who will move to the county to live, that there is 

value in preserving Welsh names on houses. It can prove very difficult at times, and varies from 

place to place within the county. We therefore need to look at the broader picture.  

Each culture can be considered as a large, colourful old tapestry, speckled with small pictures and 

events that tell the stories of a country by means of illustrations and colour. One integral part of the 

tapestry is the history of place names.  

It is a cause of great concern that the Welsh language tapestry has deteriorated a great deal over 

time. The thread is weakening on a daily basis, and holes are appearing in every part. We must 

acknowledge that it is not possible to save the tapestry in its entirety and that repairs will have to be 

undertaken here and there, slowly but surely. It will never return to its original splendour but it is 

possible to repair the vast majority of it. If a hole is found, we will place a new Welsh patch over it. It 

does not matter if that cover is made of the highest standard material, ‘gwell clwt na thwll’ (better a 

patch than a hole) as the older generation would say. 

The world needs to be persuaded that there is special value to the tapestry, whilst also accepting 

that not everyone will have the same opinion, that there will be failures, and that totally unsuitable 

names will manage to reach the front gates of many houses. However, the Place Names Project is a 

way forward and builds a firm foundation for the future. 

Page 100



Legislation  

It became apparent in the report to the Language Committee that the main barrier when dealing 

with the matter is legislation. Specific, effective legislation would be of great help to close the door 

just a little on the possibility of decisions by the authority on house or street names being 

challenged.  

If the person applying to re-name his/her house knows that the force of the law is behind the final 

decision of the authority to refuse, they are more likely to reconsider their application. 'The snake in 

the grass must be slayed - before it becomes a giant snake' as it were.  

Yes, the authority currently has statutory rights under a number of acts, and there are many relevant 

policies, but no clear and formal procedures have been established and implemented so far to 

protect native place names.  

Influence 

By and large, the challenge we are facing as an authority is to protect Welsh names not from the 
influence of English names as such, but any names that are unsuitable in a Welsh community or 
Welsh landscape. Of course, cases of new English names (or any other language for that matter) that 
fit the landscape perfectly in Gwynedd are very rare.  But, some English names have become 
accepted here. The English name 'Victoria' is the origin of the name ‘Y Fic’, Llithfaen, a public house 
that could not be more Welsh.  There are many a London House (Llithfaen, Harlech, Dolgellau and 
Barmouth) and Manchester House (Y Felinheli, Blaenau Ffestiniog and Cwm-y-glo), each one telling 
the story of local industry and trade. 

Next door to London House, Llithfaen there is London Bach, which begs the question whether 
London Bach is an English or Welsh name? Therefore, caution is needed as a few old houses with an 
English name can be more Welsh in nature and culturally richer than the new bungalow next door 
with a monoglot Welsh name.  

3. Next Steps  

A work programme has been written, with the project effectively been split into two work streams:  

the internal work that needs to be done to get some order and consistency within the Council, and 

external work to raise awareness and nurture public interest in the work. 

Internal work 

An initial meeting was held with various officers within the Council in order to establish the Project 
Group, with the aim of moving forward with clear procedures that will, hopefully, meet the need for 
clarity in the field. The main stumbling block is that Council departments use different software  
systems and each of those uses different versions of place names. Additionally, a number of those 
systems are maintained by external companies. Therefore, it is not easy to reconcile the use of 
names between one and the other.  

One option that would take us in the right direction would be adopting one database of names to be 
used internally and externally by the Council.  

The initial work on the project has also involved a considerable amount of reading and research, to 

find out what happens in other areas and what potential leads are there for the Council to pursue.  It 

Page 101



must be acknowledged that this is not only a problem and concern for Gwynedd, and that there is a 

possibility for us to see good practices in other areas. 

The first thing that was done was to look beyond the county and on other councils to see what their 

approach was towards house names.  It soon became apparent that there was a great difference in 

the policies of different councils across Britain. There could be lessons to learn and models to follow. 

For example, the Borough Council of West Norfolk insists that new street names must end with 
specific suffixes listed by the Council. Here are a few examples, of many, that also include further 
restrictions on the use of those names: 

 'Street' may be used for any thoroughfare 
 'Way' may be used for major roads 
 'Close' To be used for a cul-de-sac only 

West Norfolk also insists that there is a historical connection, where possible, in a name: 

‘...they must be consistent with the following protocols: 

 the name(s) should, when possible, have a proven historical connection to the land intended 
for development 

 if no suitable historical name can be found for the land then a historical name related to an 
adjacent area may be suitable 

Of course, it can be argued that it is possible to find a historical connection anywhere. The guidelines 
of West Norfolk proceed to note that it refuses some specific suffixes on names: 

'End', 'Cross', 'Side', 'View', 'Wharf', 'Walk', 'Park', 'Meadow' are not considered to be suitable. With 
regards to naming buildings, it insists on specific suffixes. Here are some examples from the many 
listed in their policy. 

All new building names should end with one of the following: 

 'House' block offices or residential only 
 'Lodge' residential only 
 'Point' high block residential only 
 'Heights' block offices or residential only 

      Preferably, no building name should start with 'The'. 

It is clear, therefore, that West Norfolk is confident that their policies hold up. We don’t know yet in 
accordance with what Act, or based on what policy, West Norfolk are operating, but the above 
highlights the fact that there is scope to impose restrictions on the use of new names on buildings 
and streets/developments. 

So the main work of the project will be to try and to make the best of current legislation and policies 
and finding ways to use them to our advantage.  

We will start at our own doorstep, looking at the way the Council itself uses the Welsh versions of its 
names, buildings and signs, and then we will, step by step, work our way outwards, to try and 
influence others.  

Page 102



External work  

There will also be more public work to promote and encourage the use of Welsh names. 

One way to generate the good will of the public is to consider what the Welsh Language Promotion 
Plan 2018-2013 states, namely that it should be ensured that 'Different social cohorts, and less 
willing speakers feel they are part of the Welsh community'. The Team has already been discussing 
many ways to generate interest in the field, which include: 

 Using the Council intranet and social media websites to raise awareness of the origin of 

place names among colleagues and the public. Excerpts will be published regularly under the 

title ‘Yr Enw a’r Hanes’, explaining the origin of some interesting names. We will start, for 

example, with the origin of the name Gwynedd.  We will also publish news snippets about 

the work of the Team and articles of interest.  

 

 Engage with schools in order to propose ideas and activities that will fit into th ‘Fy Milltir 

Sgwâr’ (My Local Area) theme of the New Curriculum, which will become statutory in 2022.  

This could include a competition for young people to create new fables based on an 

imaginary place name, as well as creating a lesson plan for teachers that encourages pupils 

to search for the history behind the wealth of place names that are local to them. 

 

 Hold events at grass roots' level, in the community, in order to generate a discussion and to 

include the public in the project.  A series of 4 interactive sessions have already been 

arranged for the winter, working alongside Hunaniaith, looking at the origins of place names 

- these will be sessions on Zoom with the Project Officer, discussing place names in a non-

academic manner, as a kind of ‘presentation on the origin of place names' and aimed at 

people with an interest in the field but who want to find out more.  

 

 Ensuring that the project receives regular attention in the press -͏ some attention has already 

been received following the announcement of the appointment of the Project Officer, in the 

press and on social media websites. The attention that was totally positive. 

 

The role of external bodies and organisations 

The aspirations of the authority to protect place names rely heavily on the goodwill of 

residents and prospective Gwynedd residents, but also on having the same enthusiasm and 

goodwill among external bodies and organisations. A Contacts Directory has been 

established by the Team to facilitate access to relevant key staff within the authority and 

externally.  We will also closely monitor the work that is being undertaken by the Snowdonia 

National Park, and a working relationship has already been established with the relevant 

officer there.  The Place-Name Society will also have a key role to play in the work and an 

informal conversation has already taken place between Dylan Foster Evans, the Chair of the 

Society and Meirion MacIntyre Huws, the Project Officer, regarding the project direction and 

how both can work together to achieving the aim. 

 

4. Onwards 

Page 103



Of course, there is a lot of work ahead, and a few stumbling blocks to overcome, but things have 

already started moving in the right direction in a little over a month.  At least with the growing 

momentum of the Project, the tapestry is back on the wall once again, for all to see, with an 

enthusiastic team standing in front of it ready to repair it and, most importantly, working tirelessly 

to protect it. 

Page 104


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	5 WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: HIGHWAYS AND MUNICIPAL
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	6 WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT
	7 WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION PLAN: FINANCE
	8 STEPPING FORWARD: THE WELSH LANGUAGE COMMISSIONER'S ASSURANCE REPORT
	REF22680 - Welsh Lang Comm - Cover design A4 STP - Saesneg.pdf
	20210922 DG S Stepping Forward Adroddiad Sicrwydd 2020-21.pdf

	9 WELSH PLACENAMES REPORT
	Appendix 1




